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Charting A New Course

AVIC Singapore, a leading shipbuilding project management and consultancy services
provider based in the PRC, is charting a new course in the maritime and shipping industry.
Leveraging on the track record, international brand name and extensive business network of
the AVIC Group, AVIC Singapore is well-positioned to ride on the scale and growth potential
of the shipping industry, not just in the PRC but also around the world.
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Corporate Profile

AVIC International Investments Limited (“AVIC Singapore”), and
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) (中航国际投资有限公司)
is the shipbuilding management arm of AVIC International Beijing Co.,
Ltd (“AVIC International Beijing”) (中国航空技术北京有限公司),
which is a member of the PRC Central Government-owned Aviation
Industry Corporation of China (“AVIC”) (中国航空工业集团公司) group
of companies (“AVIC Group”).

Ranked 311 amongst international Fortune 500 companies in 2011*, AVIC is
one of the largest industrial groups owned and managed by the PRC Central
Government, with key business units such as defence, transport aircraft,
aviation engine, helicopters, avionics, general aviation aircraft, aviation research
and development, flight test, trade and logistics, and asset management.
As a shipbuilding project management and consultancy (“M&C”) services
provider, the Group provides services such as ship-design, construction
(both of which are out-sourced to third parties), procurement, new building
management and marine finance arrangement for a variety of ships including
bulk carriers, tankers, multipurpose vessels and liquefied petroleum gas
(“LPG”) carriers.
AVIC International Beijing began to provide shipbuilding M&C services in
1994. Over the years, we have established relationships with many reputable
shipowners such as ITOCHU Corporation, Hartmann Schiffahrts GmbH & Co.
KG, Dockendale, the Clipper Group and Seaarland Shipping Management
B.V..
Our association with the AVIC Group gives us the competitive edge of getting
strong support from the PRC major financial institutions, which allows us
to assist shipyards and shipowners in obtaining financing. Backed by an
experienced and driven management team with in-depth industry knowledge,
AVIC Singapore is well-positioned to capitalise on the AVIC Group’s excellent
business relationships, strong fundamentals and extensive business network
around the world.
With our listing on the Singapore bourse in September 2011, the Group seeks
to expand its shipbuilding M&C business by establishing its own shipbuilding
and ship-design capabilities. We plan to develop more environmentallyfriendly, higher value-added vessels such as liquefied natural gas carriers, LPG
carriers, chemical tankers and offshore vessels in the near future.

*Source: http://money.cnn.com/magazines/fortune/global500/2011/snapshots/11566.html
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our business
business overview
Our Group provides M&C services relating to shipbuilding,
including ship-design, construction (both of which are
out-sourced to third parties), procurement, newbuilding
management and marine finance arrangement.

the utilisation of the progress payments by the shipowner. We
also provide marketing and consultancy services to shipyards
to help promote their corporate profiles in overseas markets,
seek out shipowners and secure shipbuilding contracts.

We work with established shipyards in the PRC as co-sellers,
whereby the shipyard constructs the vessels and we undertake
the non-construction aspects of the shipbuilding project
such as marketing, deals origination, client management,
and project management including arranging for marine
financing, handling export procedural matters and overseeing

As part of the AVIC group of companies, we have strong
support from the PRC domestic financial institutions and
have been able to assist the shipyards in obtaining loans and/
or procuring the issuance of refund guarantees by banks and
the shipowners in obtaining financing, when required.

business process of shipbuilding M&C
Deal origination and
receipt of intention
from customers

Negotiation of
technical and
commercial
proposals

Financing
arrangments

AVIC Singapore plans to diversify into shipbuilding by
acquiring reputable shipyards and related businesses in
the PRC, including but not limited to, those within AVIC
International Holding Corporation (中国航空技术国际控股
有限公司) and its subsidiaries in the near future. This would

Construction
process

complement our existing shipbuilding M&C business as well
as broaden revenue streams. AVIC Singapore will serve
as AVIC International Beijing’s investment holding vehicle
through which long-term strategic investments in the global
shipbuilding and ship-trading industry will be made.

our strategy
•

Establish shipbuilding capabilities

•

Establish research and design capabilities

•

Provide greater variety of financing arrangements and value-added services

•

Expand global reach and build overseas network

•

Develop more sophisticated and higher value-added vessels
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Delivery of vessel

corporate milestones

1994

• AVIC International Beijing began to provide shipbuilding M&C Services, when a Middle
Eastern shipowner ordered five (5) 21,000 deadweight tonnage (“DWT”) multipurpose
ships
• Paved the way for the Chinese shipbuilding industry to begin exporting vessels using
Export Credit financing arrangements

2000

• Set up a new division to focus on shipbuilding M&C Services (“AVIC Shipbuilding
Management Business”)
• Secured contracts for two (2) 27,000 DWT bulk carriers, two (2) 35,000 DWT bulk carriers
and two (2) 51,000 DWT bulk carriers, when the industry was experiencing a downturn

2003
to
2008
2010
2011

• Secured contracts for thirty-nine (39) vessels with an aggregate value of US$1.35
billion, before the global financial crisis
• Expanded to engineering ships, such as dredgers, tug boats and offshore vessels,
since 2008

• Incorporated AVIC Singapore to be the holding company of the Group

• As part of a restructuring exercise, the personnel of the AVIC Shipbuilding Management
Business of AVIC International Beijing were transferred to the Group from 1 January
2011
• AVIC Singapore started trading its Shares on the Mainboard of the Singapore Exchange
in October 2011
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Delivering

Long-Term Results
We are committed to strengthen and grow AVIC Singapore’s business,
with the aim of delivering long-term value for all of our stakeholders.
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Chairman’s STATEMENT

We are forging ahead with our growth
strategy to facilitate expansion along the
ship-design, shipbuilding and ship-trading
related businesses value chain.

Dear Shareholders,
AVIC International Investments Limited (“AVIC Singapore”, and together with
its subsidiaries, the “Group”), which is a member of the Aviation Industry
Corporation of China group of companies (the “AVIC Group”), crossed
a significant milestone on 7 October 2011 when it started trading on the
Mainboard of the Singapore Exchange.
This marked the numerous months of hard work put in by the professional
teams and the management team for the acquisition of Sino-Environment
Technology Group Limited’s listing status. This was no mean feat, and I would
like to thank everyone who has contributed to the success of our listing.
To comply with the shareholding spread and distribution requirements of the
Singapore Exchange, AVIC Singapore placed out 53,576,000 Compliance
Placement Shares to institutional and retail investors at an issue price of S$0.285
per Compliance Placement Share, to raise net proceeds of approximately
S$10.6 million which will be used to partly finance acquisition and for working
capital. We are heartened that investors recognise our competitive strengths
and capabilities, sound fundamentals and business prospects.
We are forging ahead with our growth strategy to facilitate expansion along
the ship-design, shipbuilding and ship-trading related businesses value chain,
and further develop our existing shipbuilding management and consultancy
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business. We are in the midst of studying our various
options and opportunities, and will make the requisite
announcements as and when appropriate.
Financial Review
For the financial period ended 31 December 2011
(“FP2011”)1, the Group achieved a net profit attributable
to shareholders of RMB43.2 million on a 30.2% rise in
Group revenue to RMB99.6 million which was boosted
by higher management service fee income and marketing
commission income. FP2011’s net profit was 23.1%
lower than in FY20102 because of the one-off expense
of RMB17.7 million incurred for the Group’s Mainboard
listing exercise in September 2011. If this one-off expense
was excluded, the Group’s net profit for FP2011 would
have increased by 8.3% year-on-year to approximately
RMB60.8 million.
Notwithstanding, we think that our FP2011 performance
was creditable in light of the prevailing challenges in the
shipping industry. We had an order book of thirty-eight (38)
vessels at the beginning of 2011, of which seven (7) were
delivered as at 31 December 2011.
Business Prospects
There is still very little clarity about how the global economy
will pan out with looming fears of a full-blown Eurozone
crisis. The global shipping industry has been experiencing
an oversupply of vessels – particularly dry bulk carriers,
crude oil tankers and container vessels – due largely to
the frenzy of new buildings after the global financial crisis
in 2009. Coupled with the current flagging demand from
a sluggish economic situation, freight rates have suffered
whilst operational costs continued to escalate.
Despite the current economic uncertainties, the PRC
government remains committed to achieving its target of
becoming the largest shipbuilding nation in the world. Our
growth strategy remains intact. We continue to seek to
develop our own shipbuilding capabilities, and diversify into
other shipbuilding and shipping related business sectors.

1

2

3

The bright spark in the shipbuilding industry comes from
the liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) and offshore engineering
sectors which continue to see robust demand due to
rising oil prices. We will tap this particular buoyant market
by intensifying our research and development efforts with
ship-design institutes to develop technologically-advanced
vessels such as LNG carriers, liquefied petroleum gas
carriers, chemical tankers and offshore engineering
vessels, in order for us to own proprietary rights
to the design of such vessels. We are optimistic of
the long-term development of the global shipbuilding
industry and are positioning ourselves to ride on the growth
of its recovery.
As a member of the AVIC Group – which was ranked 311
amongst international Fortune 500 companies in 20113
and is one of the largest industrial groups owned by the
PRC Central Government − the Group receives strong
support from the PRC Central Government and domestic
financial institutions. This has helped to forge our unique
competitive strength – our ability to provide a greater variety
of financing arrangements and value-added services for
our customers. This will probably prove to be an even
stronger advantage during such challenging times.
To mitigate the negative impact of the shipping
downturn, the central and local governments of China
have been reported to be planning to introduce a series
of favourable policies to support its shipping industry.
We believe that these policies will boost the overall PRC
shipping industry and in turn lead to more business
opportunities for AVIC Singapore.
Acknowledgments
I am grateful to all of our shareholders and investors for
believing in us. Good corporate governance is a key
priority for us. We will do our best to deliver more value
to all of our shareholders, and we look forward to your
continued support as we take AVIC Singapore to new
levels of growth.
Dr diao weicheng
Executive Chairman

FP2011: Financial period from AVIC Singapore’s date of incorporation on 11 November 2010 to 31 December 2011. However, the Group did not record any business activities from
11 November 2010 to 31 December 2010.
FY2010: Financial year from 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2010, whereby the unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of comprehensive income was prepared from the divisional
general ledgers of AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd, of which the ship-trading and shipbuilding business is a division for the year.
http://money.cnn.com/magazines/fortune/global500/2011/snapshots/11566.html
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主席致词

我们正全力以赴地推行集团的发展战略，依托
船舶设计、船舶建造和船舶贸易相关业务的价
值链，加快推进船舶业务的产业化进程。

尊敬的股东们，
中航国际投资有限公司（“中航新加坡”及其子公司，简称为“集团”），
作为中国航空工业集团公司（简称“中航集团”）成员单位之一，于
2011年10月7日在新加坡交易所主板市场正式上市交易，成就了集团发
展史上一项重要的里程碑。
在此衷心感谢专业团队和管理团队所付出的长久而艰辛的努力！从收购
中华环保科技集团的上市地位开始，你们勤恳敬业，一丝不苟，直到完
成此项重大成就。感谢你们为集团的成功上市做出的无私奉献！
集团严格地遵照新加坡交易所对于股权和分配的要求，以每股0.285元
新币的发行价格，成功地向投资机构和个人发售了53,576,000配售股，
筹集了约1060万新币的资金。募集的资金将作为收购和运营的资本来使
用。投资者们对于集团所具有的竞争优势、综合能力、坚实基础以及业
务前景的充分认同，使我们感到无比的振奋！
我们正全力以赴地推行集团的发展战略，依托船舶设计、船舶建造和船
舶贸易相关业务的价值链，加快推进船舶业务的产业化进程。进一步扩
大船舶建造管理和咨询业务，并将探寻各种方案、抓住各种机遇，寻求
持续的发展。集团将依照各项法律法规及上市条例的指引，在适当时机
做出相关公告。
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集团财务回顾
截至2011年12月31日的财政期间（简称“2011财政
期间”）1，集团收获了4320万元人民币的净利润；管
理服务费收入和市场营销佣金收入的激增，使集团营
业收入同比上升了30.2%，达到9960万元人民币。集
团于2011年9月在新加坡交易所主板上市时，发生的
上市费用为1770万元人民币。2011财政期间的净利
润受此影响比2010财政年度2 降低了23.1%。剔除该
一次性费用，集团2011财政期间的净利润将同比增长
8.3%，可达到6080万元人民币。
考虑到航运业目前所面临的种种艰难挑战，集团在
2011财政期间的表现是完全值得肯定的。2011年初集
团的订单有38艘船，截至2011年12月31日，其中7艘
已经实现交付。

集团业务前景
全球经济的前景尚不明朗，欧元区危机全面爆发的忧
虑尚存。全球航运业正面临供过于求的问题，尤其是
散货船、油轮和集装箱船。这主要是由于2009年全球
金融危机过后，先爆发了造船热，随后经济放缓导致
需求不振，营运成本持续上升的同时航运价格低迷等
因素造成的。

领先的船舶。液化天然气船、液化石油气船、化学品
船和海洋工程类船舶是我们的目标。集团对全球航运
业的长远发展充满信心。我们正在积极调整定位，做
好充分的准备来迎接新一轮产业大发展的浪潮。
中航集团在2011年国际财富500强公司中排名311位3，
是中国中央政府直属的大型工业集团。作为其下属
成员之一，中航新加坡获得了来自中国中央政府和国
内金融机构的强有力的支持。这将有利于保持集团特
有的竞争优势－即为客户提供多种融资安排和增值服
务。在目前充满挑战的时期，这项优势则更为凸显。
为了减轻航运业低迷所带来的负面影响，据报道，中
国中央和地方政府计划推出一系列的优惠政策以大
力支持航运业的发展。我们相信这些措施将促进
中国航运业的整体发展，同时也为中航新加坡带来更
多机遇。

感谢辞
我要向股东和投资者们表示诚挚的谢意！你们对集团
的信任是对我们最大的支持。设立并执行良好的企业
治理机制是我们首要关注的任务。我们会尽最大的努
力为所有股东带来更大的利益。期待各位继续支持我
们把中航新加坡推向更高的发展阶段。

然而，尽管目前经济环境存在诸多的不确定因素，中
国政府仍然致力于实现其成为世界第一大造船国的目
标。我们始终坚持集团的发展战略，继续寻求机会，
提升我们自己的造船能力，拓展我们的船舶业务。
造船业的亮点来自液化天然气和海洋工程领域，由于
油价攀升，需求依然强劲。集团将与船舶设计机构合
作，加强我们的研发力量，抓住市场机遇，开发技术

1
2
3

刁伟程博士
执行主席

2011财政期间：从中航新加坡成立之日即2010年11月11日到2011年12月31日的财政期间。集团从2010年11月11日到2010年12月31日期间没有任何商业记录。
2010财政年度：从2010年1月1日到2010年12月31日的财政年度。形式综合收入合并报表（未经审计）是根据中国航空技术北京有限公司下属的船舶贸易及建造部门的总帐来编制的。
http://money.cnn.com/magazines/fortune/global500/2011/snapshots/11566.html
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OperatiNG and financial review
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period from the Company’s
date of incorporation, 11 November 2010, to 31 December 2011 (“FP2011”)1
Actual
11 November 2010 to
31 December 2011

Pro Forma^
1 January 2010 to
31 December 2010	Change

(RMB’000)
(RMB’000)
%
Revenue
           99,580
            76,495
30.2
Other operating income
           1,082
            8,718
(87.6)
Employee benefits expense
           (7,689)
            (4,262)
80.4
Travelling and entertainment expenses
           (4,085)
            (2,553)
60.0
Office rental and office expenses
           (2,943)
            (1,830)
60.8
Listing expenses
           (17,674)
            N/M
Other operating expenses
     (3,470)
            (1,634)
112.4
Finance costs
(12)
N/M
			
Profit before income tax
64,789
            74,934
     (13.5)
Income tax expense
(21,629)
   (18,788)
15.1
			
Profit for the period,			
attributable to owners of the Company
43,160        
56,146            
   (23.1)
			
Other comprehensive income:			
Exchange differences arising on translation
(2,070)
N/M
Total comprehensive income for the period/year
41,090
56,146
(26.8)
			
N/M – Not meaningful
^ The pro forma consolidated statement of comprehensive income was prepared from the divisional general ledgers of AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd (“AVIC
International Beijing”), of which the ship-trading and shipbuilding business is a division (the “Shipbuilding Management Division”).

Revenue
For the financial period ended 31 December 2011, the
Group achieved a 30.2% rise in revenue to RMB99.6
million, buoyed by higher management service fee income
and marketing commission income.
The Group’s FP2011 revenue comprised (i) service
fee income derived from the project management and
consultancy services provided in relation to shipbuilding
contracts; (ii) commission income for services rendered
1

2

in securing shipbuilding contracts; and (iii) management
service fee income relating to marketing and consultancy
services provided to a shipyard.
On a segmental basis, 32.4% of its FP2011 revenue was
derived from service fee income, 45.2% from commission
income, and the remaining 22.4% from management
service fee income. All of its FP2011 revenue was derived
from Asia compared to 16.3% from Europe, 50.3% from
Middle East and 33.4% from Asia in FY20102.

The Company was incorporated on 11 November 2010 under the laws of Singapore and became the holding company of our Group pursuant to the Restructuring
Exercise as described in our Information Memorandum dated 10 August 2011. The Group did not record any business activities from 11 November 2010 to
31 December 2010.
The unaudited pro forma financial information for FY2010 represents the income and expenses of the Shipbuilding Management Division of AVIC International Beijing.
Following the restructuring exercise, AVIC Interenational Beijing and the Company entered into a Management Agreement, pursuant to which AVIC International
Beijing engaged the Company to provide M&C services with effect from 1 January 2011 until the outstanding nineteen (19) vessels are delivered. As a result,
the service fee income from the provision of M&C services in FP2011 was derived from AVIC International Beijing, i.e. Asia instead of the customers’ country of
origin.
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Revenue

Net Profit

RMB’
million

RMB’
million

120

80

99.5
22.3

76.5
7.9

80

17.6
45.0

42.4
40

40

35.9
18.6

68.6

24.6

60.8

56.1

60

43.2

20

32.2
0

Service Fee Income

Commission Income

Pro Forma

FY2010

>

FY2009

>

FY2008

>

FP2011

>

Pro Forma

FY2010

>

>

>

FY2009

>

0
FY2008

FP2011

Listing Expenses

Management Service Fee Income

In FP2011, seven (7) vessels − two (2) units of 118,000
DWT bulk carrier, four (4) units of 92,500 DWT bulk carrier
and one (1) unit of 28,000 DWT multipurpose ship − were
delivered pursuant to the Management Agreement with
AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd (“AVIC International
Beijing”) for the provision of services for nineteen (19)
vessels. This compared to one (1) unit of 6,500 DWT
bunkering oil tanker and one (1) unit of 92,500 DWT bulk
carrier delivered in FY2010.
The Group also made progress in its work done in relation
to its agreement with China National Aero-Technology
Import and Export Corporation (“CATIC”) pursuant to
which a fee is payable to the Group for the provision of
project management services for nineteen (19) vessels.
Out of these nineteen (19) vessels, six (6) vessels
commenced steel cutting as at 31 December 2011.
In addition, the Group registered higher commission
income for services rendered to a related company in
securing eight (8) shipbuilding contracts.
Other Operating Income
Other operating income comprising mainly interest
income decreased by 87.6% to RMB1.1 million in
FP2011, due to faster payments to shipyards during the
period. Following the global financial crisis, ship-owners
have generally requested to make lesser and fewer
upfront and progress payments, and at the same time
shipyards have sought faster payments from us. As a
result, the Group’s interest income decreased despite the
significant increase in revenue.

Operating Expenses
As the Group’s headcount grew in FP2011, employee
benefits, office rental and office expenses rose in tandem.
Travelling, entertainment and other operating expenses
such as advertising, promotion and exhibition costs as
well as import and export related expenses also increased
in line with the higher level of business activities and the
increase in revenue.
Listing expenses
For the purpose of the Group’s Mainboard listing exercise
in September 2011, the Group incurred a one-off
professional fee and miscellaneous charges of RMB17.7
million.
Income tax Expense
The operating subsidiary in China is subject to income tax
of 25%. The higher effective tax rate was due to non-tax
deductible expenses incurred by the Group for FP2011.
Net Profit
As a result of the one-off listing expenses, the Group’s net
profit attributable to shareholders was RMB43.2 million
in FP2011, a 23.1% decline from RMB56.1 million in
FY2010. Excluding these one-off expenses, the Group’s
net profit for FP2011 would have grown 8.3% year-onyear to approximately RMB60.8 million.
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OperatiNG and financial review

(Cont’d)

Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 20113
Group
31 December 2011
(RMB’000)
Assets
Current assets
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-current assets
Plant and equipment

Total assets
Current liabilities
Other payables and accruals
Bank loan
Income tax payable

Total liabilities

3

11,065
21,631
145,196
177,892
4,364
4,364
182,256

7,004
20,000
12,925
39,929
39,929

Net assets

142,327

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Statutory reserve
Translation reserve
Accumulated profits

101,237
6,489
(2,070)
36,671

Total equity

142,327

The unaudited pro forma statement of financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2010, and pro forma statement of cash flows for FY2010 were not
prepared as the Shipbuilding Management Division in AVIC International Beijing did not maintain a divisional bank account or have divisional assets or liabilities.
Accordingly, review of material fluctuations of both statements will not be meaningful.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the period from
the Company’s date of incorporation, 11 November 2010 to
31 December 20113
	Group
11 November 2010 to 31 December 2011
(RMB’000)
Operating activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
    Depreciation of plant and equipment
Interest income
    Listing expenses
Net foreign exchange gains
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital
    Trade receivables
    Other receivables
    Other payables and accruals
Cash generated from operations
Income taxes paid
Interest received
Net cash from operating activities

287
(1,082)
17,674
(1,290)
80,378
(11,065)
(1,631)
7,004
74,686
(8,704)
1,082
67,064

Investing activity
Purchase of plant and equipment, representing net cash
        used in investing adivity

         (4,638)

Financing activities
    Payments of share issue expenses
    Proceeds on issue of shares
Other receivables
New bank loan raised
Net cash from financing activities

64,789

(24,126)
107,689
(20,000)
20,000
       83,563

Net increase in cash and bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Effects of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held
    in foreign currencies
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

145,989
            (793)
145,196

Cash Flow
Approximately RMB67.1 million was generated from
operating activities in FP2011, mainly due to the profit
contribution from the Group’s core business, which
was offset by the increase in trade receivables, other
receivables, and taxes paid.

Use of Placement Proceeds
Based on the placement price of S$0.285 and the
53,576,000 placement shares subscribed for, the net
proceeds raised from the placement is approximately
S$10.6 million (after deducting listing expenses of
approximately S$4.7 million).

Approximately RMB83.6 million net cash was generated
from financing activities mainly attributable to proceeds
from the issuance of ordinary shares as a result of the
Mainboard listing.

The net proceeds will be used as follows:
(i) approximately S$8.0 million to partly finance acquisition; and
(ii) the balance of approximately S$2.6 million for the
Group’s working capital purposes and any future
acquisitions, joint ventures and strategic alliances.
As at 31 December 2011, the Group has not started to
utilise the placement proceeds.
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Delivering

performance
Our experienced and driven management team with in-depth industry
knowledge is one of the keys of AVIC Singapore’s success.
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Dr Diao Weicheng
Executive Chairman

Mr Li Jin
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman

Mr Zhang Wanping
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Dr Diao Weicheng (刁伟程) is our Executive
Chairman and was appointed to our Board on
11 November 2010. He was re-designated from
Non-Executive Chairman to Executive Chairman on
2 April 2012. He has been the president of AVIC
International Beijing since March 2008, and is
responsible for the overall management of AVIC
International Beijing’s business. Prior to joining
AVIC International Beijing, he was the vice president
of AVIC International Holding Corporation (中国
航空技术国际控股有限公司) from August 2004
to February 2008 and was in charge of strategic
planning, ship-trading and shipbuilding.

Mr Li Jin (李进) is our Non-Executive Deputy
Chairman and was appointed to our Board
on 10 March 2011. He has been a director
and vice president of AVIC International
Beijing since April 2010. From December
2004 to 2009, Mr Li was the vice president
of
China
National
Aero-Technology
International Supply Corporation (中航技国际
工贸有限公司). Prior to this, he was a director
at the corporate culture department of AVIC
International Holding Corporation (“AVIC
International”)
(中国航空技术国际控股有限
公司) from April 1997 to November 2004.
From 1993 to 1997, Mr Li worked for AVIC
Equipment Centre (中航技备件中心) (one of
the branches of the AVIC Group) and was
responsible for the general management of
the centre. From 1975 to 1993, Mr Li was
working in the Research Institute of China
Ministry of Aviation Industry and he was the
director of its operation planning department
from 1986 to 1993.  

Mr Zhang Wanping (张万萍) is our Executive
Director and CEO, and was appointed
to our Board on 11 November 2010. He
is in charge of the overall operations and
financial management of the Group, as
well as implementing the strategic policies,
directions or decisions made by the
Chairman and/or the Board of the Company.
He was the deputy general manager and
chief accountant of AVIC International
Beijing from October 2009 until the Group’s
Restructuring Exercise in connection with
our Group’s listing on the SGX-ST, where
he was not only responsible for the internal
financial affairs of AVIC International Beijing
but also assisted the general manager in
managing the company’s internal affairs and
strategic development.

From 2002 to 2004, Dr Diao was the vice
president-cum-director of Shenzhen Pengji
Group Limited (深圳鹏基集团有限公司), a
company involved in property development and
management and other industrial investment
activities, where he was in charge of the overall
management of the company’s industrial
investment and certain property business.
From 1995 to 2002, he was the vice president
of Shenzhen Investment Limited, a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
and involved in property development and
investment, and was in charge of the overall
investment management of the company’s
business. From 1990 to 1995, Dr Diao was
the director of the administration department
of AVIC International Shenzhen Company
Limited (中航国际深圳公司). Prior to joining the
AVIC Group, Dr Diao was a lecturer in business
management and economics related courses
in Beijing Administrative College (北京行政学
院) from 1987 to 1990.
Dr Diao is a certified senior engineer accredited
by the Shenzhen city government. He graduated
from Zhongshan University (中山大学) with
a Bachelor of Science in 1985, and obtained
a Masters in Business Administration and
PhD in Management Science and Engineering
from Tongji University (同济大学) in 1996 and
2002 respectively. From 2005 to 2006, Dr
Diao was engaged in postdoctoral research on
strategic studies in politics in Peking University
(北京大学).
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Mr Li graduated with a Diploma in Industrial
Economic Management from the Renmin
University of China (中国人民大学) in 1983,
and a Bachelor of Chinese Literature from
the Beijing Normal University (北京师范大学)
in 1985.

Prior to joining AVIC International Beijing,
Mr Zhang was the chief accountant of AVIC
International Engineering Co., Ltd (中航技国
际工程公司) from February 2008 to October
2009. From April 2005 to February 2008, Mr
Zhang was the deputy general manager of
the finance department at AVIC International.
From 1996 to 2005, Mr Zhang was the
head of the finance department of AVIC
International Trade & Economic Corporation
Ltd
(中国航空技术国际经贸公司).
From
1993 to 1996, he was working as a project
manager at AVIC International Beijing,
assisting with the internal financial affairs and
accounting functions of the company.
He obtained the Certificate of Accounting
Professional (会计从业资格证书) issued by
the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in August
1997 and is a qualified senior economist
accredited by China Aviation Industry
Corporation. Mr Zhang graduated with
a Bachelor of Economics from Xiamen
University (厦门大学) in 1993 and a Masters
in Business Administration from the Chinese
University of Hong Kong in 2003.

Mr Cheng Xuhui
Executive Director

Mr Wu Weidong
Executive Director

Mr Li Wei
Executive Director

Mr Cheng Xuhui (程旭辉) is our Executive
Director in charge of the Group’s business
development and project management, and
was appointed to our Board on 10 March
2011. He started his career in 1993 when
he joined AVIC International Beijing as an
assistant project manager in charge of
assisting in the marketing activities relating
to newbuilding management and execution
of the shipbuilding projects. He was
promoted to project manager in June 1996
and senior project manager in March 2002,
overseeing the marketing activities relating
to newbuilding management and execution
of the shipbuilding projects. He became the
vice president of the Shipbuilding Division
of AVIC International Beijing in December
2003 and the director of the same division
in April 2006, where he was in charge of the
daily operations of the shipbuilding division.
Subsequently, he has worked as assistant
to the general manager-cum-director of the
shipbuilding division since March 2009.

Mr Wu Weidong (吴卫东) is our Executive
Director in charge of the Group’s human
resource matters and special projects, and
was appointed to our Board on 10 March
2011. He has been appointed as head
of the management department of AVIC
International Beijing since June 2004, and has
been responsible for administrative matters.
Prior to this, he was a project manager
at AVIC International Trade & Economic
Corporation Ltd (中国航空技术国际经贸公
司), where he was involved in the execution
of export/trading related projects from
September 2000 to June 2004. He was a
project manager at Beijing Jeep Corporation
Limited (北京吉普汽车有限公司) from 1994
to 2000, where he was involved in research
and development and an assistant engineer
at Beijing Heavy Duty Trucks Manufacturer (
北京重型汽车制造厂) from 1991 to 1994,
supervising the assembly line.

Mr Li Wei (李伟) is our Executive Director in
charge of the Group’s administration and
operational matters, and was appointed to
our Board on 14 November 2011. He has
been appointed as deputy general manager
of our Group since March 2011, and has
been responsible for the Group’s operational
matters. Prior to this, he was the managing
director of the 6th Export Division of AVIC
International Beijing, where he was involved
in divisional administration and operation
from October 2008 to February 2011. He
was the deputy managing director of the 4th
Export Division of AVIC International Beijing
from May 2004 to September 2008, where
he was involved in divisional marketing and
management. From December 2000 to
April 2004, he was the general manager
of Importadora Y Exportadora CATIC
Sudamericana (Chile) Limitada, in charge
of company’s overall management and
operation.

Mr Cheng graduated from the Beijing
University of Aeronautics and Astronautics
(北京航空航天大学) with a Bachelor of
Engineering in 1993. He is also a qualified
engineer accredited by Aviation Industrty
Corporation of China (中国航空工业集团公
司).

Mr Wu graduated from Tsinghua University (
清华大学) with a Bachelor of Engineering in
1991.

Mr Li graduated from the Beijing University of
Aeronautics and Astronautics (北京航空航天
大学) with a Bachelor of Engineering in 1995.
He is also a qualified engineer accredited by
Aviation Industrty Corporation of China (中国
航空工业集团公司).
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Cont’d

Mr Teng Cheong Kwee
Lead Independent Director

Mr Chong Teck Sin
Independent Director

Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan
Independent Director

Mr Teng Cheong Kwee is currently a
non-executive director of Pheim Asset
Management (Asia) Pte Ltd. He was
appointed to our Board on 18 April 2011.
He is also serving as an independent
director of several listed companies. He
was the head of the risk management
& regulatory division of the Singapore
Exchange Ltd. from 1999 to 2000. Prior to
this, he was an executive vice president at
the Stock Exchange of Singapore, and was
responsible for the listings, inspectorate and
investigation departments from 1989 to
1999. From 1982 to 1989, Mr Teng was in
the Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”),
where he was initially appointed secretary of
the Securities Industry Council. He was later
appointed as assistant director in the banking
and financial institutions department of MAS
from 1985 to 1988, before being appointed
as deputy director of the same department
in 1988. Mr Teng was working at the Ministry
of Finance from 1979 to 1981, where he was
seconded to become the assistant secretary
of the Securities Industry Council.

Mr Chong Teck Sin is currently an
independent director of one company listed
on the SGX-ST. He was appointed to our
Board on 18 April 2011. Between April
2004 and March 2010, he was a board
member of the Accounting and Corporate
Regulatory Authority, a statutory board under
Singapore’s Ministry of Finance. Between
October 2008 and July 2010, he was also
a board member of The National Kidney
Foundation of Singapore. Prior to this, he was
the group managing director (Commercial)
of SGX-listed Seksun Corporation Ltd
between 1999 and 2004. He joined
Glaxo Wellcome Asia Pacific Pte Ltd as its
strategic development director for the PRC
from 1997 to 1999. From 1994 to 1997,
he was the general manager (Marketing/
Commercial) and subsequently senior
general manager (Marketing, Singapore
operations and Singapore branch) of
China-Singapore Suzhou Industrial Park
Development Co., Ltd, the developer of the
Suzhou Industrial Park. Before that, he was
with Standard Chartered Bank from 1989
to 1994, the Economic Development Board
from 1986 to 1989 and international ship
classification society Nippon Kaiji Kyokai
from 1981 to 1986.

Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan was appointed to our Board
on 18 April 2011. She is a controlling shareholder
and the managing director of a corporate advisory
company, Asia Investment Management Limited
and a research company, Asia Investment Research
Limited since 1999 and 2003 respectively, both of
which are licensed corporations by the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong. She is also
serving as an independent director of several listed
companies in Hong Kong.

Mr Teng graduated from the University of
Newcastle, New South Wales, Australia
in 1977 with a Bachelor of Commerce
and a First Class Honours in Bachelor of
Engineering (Industrial).
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Mr Chong graduated with a Bachelor of
Engineering (Naval Architecture) from the
University of Tokyo in 1981 and a Masters
of Business Administration (MBA) from the
National University of Singapore in 1987.

Ms Kan has been a responsible officer for Lotus
Asset Management Limited, which is principally
involved in investment management, for research
support since 2005. From 1997 to 2002, Ms
Kan was the managing director of Asia Financial
Capital Limited, where she was involved in
corporate finance related advisory and investment
management business in Hong Kong and the PRC.
From 1995 to 1997, she was an executive director
at Creditanstalt Capital Limited and assistant general
manager at Creditanstalt-Bankverein, Hong Kong
branch. Both of these companies are involved in
merchant banking and corporate finance activities.
Ms Kan was an executive director at ING Capital
Markets (Hong Kong) Limited, principally involved in
merchant banking and corporate finance activities,
from 1992 to 1995.
She was an associate director at Sun Hung Kai
International Limited, a company involved in
corporate finance activities, from 1986 to 1992.
Prior to this, she was the group accountant of a
trading and investment holding company, G.S.Yuill
& Company Pty Ltd, from 1984 to 1986, in charge
of the overall accounting and financial control and
management of the company. Between 1981 and
1984, Ms Kan was the financial controller of Sun
Hey Investment Company Limited, which is an
investment holding company. She was also the
financial controller of Hip Yick Company Limited,
a company which is involved in the manufacturing
of garments, from 1980 to 1981 and the financial
controller of the Gulfeast Group, which is principally
involved in shipping, between 1979 and 1980. From
1977 to 1979, Ms Kan was the financial controller of
a trading company, Mauri Brother and Thompsons
Company Limited. Ms Kan was an assistant
assessor at the Inland Revenue Department, Hong
Kong Government from 1975 to 1977.
Ms Kan is a fellow member of the Association of
Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors and the Australian Society of Certified
Practising Accountants, and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. She
is also a licensed responsible officer under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance with the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong.

Key management

Our Executive Officers comprise our Executive Directors, Mr Zhang Wanping, Mr
Cheng Xuhui, Mr Wu Weidong, Mr Li Wei and our Financial Controller, Ms Li Ying.
The particulars of our Executive Directors are set out in the section entitled “Board
of Directors”, and the working experience, education and professional qualifications
of our Financial Controller are set out below:

Ms Li Ying
Financial Controller
Ms Li Ying is our Financial Controller and is responsible for overseeing the finance
and accounting functions of our Group. Prior to joining our Group, she was a finance
manager at Ferrell International Limited, heading the finance department of the
company from December 2010 to July 2011. From May 2008 to December 2010,
Ms Li was a finance manager at JES International Holdings Limited, responsible
for preparing statutory and SGX-ST reporting of the company and the group,
and assisting the CFO in financial, accounting, internal controls, taxation matters
and investor relations of the group. She joined BDO LLP as an audit assistant in
December 2005, and left the firm as an audit senior in May 2008. From November
1999 to November 2005, Ms Li worked at Pacific International Lines (Pte) Ltd,
where she joined as an account officer and was over time promoted to an assistant
accounting executive, primarily responsible for leading a finance team to review
revenue reporting and collections from overseas agents/subsidiaries and review
related accounting records.
Ms Li is a member of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore and
a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, United Kingdom.
Ms Li graduated from Oxford Brookes University with a Bachelor of Science in
Applied Accounting in 2008.
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group structure
AVIC International Investments Limited
100%

Kaixin Industrial Pte. Ltd.
100%

AVIC Kaixin (Beijing) Ship Industry Co., Ltd.

Corporate Information
BoARD oF DiRectoRs
Diao Weicheng
Executive Chairman
Li Jin
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman
Zhang Wanping
Executive Director and CEO
Cheng Xuhui
Executive Director
Wu Weidong
Executive Director
Li Wei
Executive Director
Teng Cheong Kwee
Lead Independent Director
Chong Teck Sin
Independent Director
Alice Lai Kuen Kan
Independent Director
AUDit coMMittee
Chong Teck Sin - Chairman
Teng Cheong Kwee
Alice Lai Kuen Kan
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NOMINATING COMMITTEE
Teng Cheong Kwee - Chairman
Diao Weicheng
Chong Teck Sin
Alice Lai Kuen Kan
ReMUneRAtion coMMittee
Alice Lai Kuen Kan - Chairman
Teng Cheong Kwee
Chong Teck Sin
coMPAnY secRetARY
Yap Lian Seng, LL.B. (Hons)
RegisteReD oFFice
10 Collyer Quay
#27-00 Ocean Financial Centre
Singapore 049315
Tel: (65) 6389 3000
Fax: (65) 6389 3099
Email: legal@stamfordlaw.com.sg
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
24th Floor, North Star Times Tower
No. 8 Beichendong Road
Chaoyang District
Beijing 100101
The People’s Republic of China

AUDitoRs
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Certified Public Accountants
6 Shenton Way
#32-00 DBS Building Tower Two
Singapore 068809
(Partner-in-charge: Ernest Kan Yaw
Kiong, Certified Public Accountant)
(Appointed since 15 April 2011)
SHARE REGISTRAR AND SHARE
TRANSFER OFFICE
Boardroom Corporate & Advisory
Services Pte. Ltd.
50 Raffles Place
#32-01 Singapore Land Tower
Singapore 048623
PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Bank of China, Singapore Branch
4 Battery Road
Bank of China Building
Singapore 049908
Bank of China, Beijing Branch
No. 8 Beichendong Road
Chaoyang District
Beijing 100101
The People’s Republic of China

Report on Corporate Governance
AVIC International Investments Limited (the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is committed to maintaining a
high standard of corporate governance. The Company understands that good corporate governance is an integral element of a sound
corporation and enables us to be more transparent and forward-looking. In addition, sound corporate governance is an effective
safeguard against fraud and dubious financial engineering, and hence helps to protect our shareholders’ interests. This also helps the
Company to create long-term value and returns for its shareholders.

Corporate Governance Report
The Company was admitted to the Mainboard of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”) on 12 September
2011 (the “Listing”). The Board is pleased to report on the Company’s corporate governance processes and activities as required
by the Code of Corporate Governance 2005 issued by the Singapore Corporate Governance Committee (the “Code”) and the
relevant sections of the Listing Manual issued by the SGX-ST (the “Listing Manual”). For easy reference, sections of the Code under
discussion in this Report are specifically identified. However, this Report should be read as a whole as other sections of this Report
may also have an impact on the specific disclosures.

1. THE BOARD’S CONDUCT OF ITS AFFAIRS
Principle 1:

Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board
is collectively responsible for the success of the company. The Board works with the Management to
achieve this and the Management remains accountable to the Board.

Our board of directors (the “Board”) comprises the following members, all having the core competencies and diversity of experience,
which enable them to effectively contribute to the Group.
Diao Weicheng
Li Jin
Zhang Wanping
Cheng Xuhui
Wu Weidong
Li Wei
Teng Cheong Kwee
Chong Teck Sin
Alice Lai Kuen Kan

Executive Chairman (re-designated from Non-Executive Chairman to Executive Chairman on 2 April 2012)
Non-Executive Deputy Chairman
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Executive Director
Executive Director
Executive Director
Lead Independent Director
Independent Director
Independent Director

The primary function of the Board is to protect and enhance long-term value and returns for Company’s shareholders. Besides
carrying out its statutory responsibilities, the principal functions of the Board are as follows:
•
•
•
•

overseeing and approving the formulation of the Group’s overall long-term strategic objectives and directions;
overseeing and reviewing the management of the Group’s business affairs, performance and resource allocation;
overseeing the processes of evaluating the adequacy of internal controls, risk management, financial reporting and compliance;
and
assuming responsibility for corporate governance.

The approval of the Board is required for matters such as corporate restructuring, mergers and acquisitions, major investments and
divestments, material acquisitions and disposals of assets, major funding proposals, annual financial budgets, major corporate policies
on key areas of operations, the release of the Group’s quarterly, half year and full year results and interested person transactions of a
material nature.
Prior to all Directors’ respective appointments to the Board, the Directors were briefed by the Company’s legal adviser on their
obligations as directors under the SGX-ST Listing Manual as well as the relevant Singapore laws and regulations. The Directors were
also briefed on the Group’s business strategies and operations. Directors have the opportunity to visit the Group’s operational facilities
and meet with the Group’s relevant management teams (the “Management”) to gain a better understanding of the Group’s business
operations.
A formal letter is sent to newly-appointed directors upon their appointment setting out, among other matters, their roles, obligations,
duties and responsibilities as members of the Board.
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All Directors are provided with updates on changes in the relevant laws and regulations.
The Company has set aside a budget for all Directors to attend appropriate courses, conferences and seminars to keep abreast of
developments. These include programmes run by the Singapore Institute of Directors and other training institutions.
Non-Executive Directors are routinely briefed by the Executive Directors or the Executive Officers at Board meetings or at separate
sessions on business developments. Non-Executive Directors, either individually or as a group, have full access to the Executive
Directors, the Management and the Company Secretary.
To assist in the execution of its responsibilities, our Board has established four Board Committees comprising an Audit Committee
(the “AC”), a Nominating Committee (the “NC”), a Remuneration Committee (the “RC”), and an Executive Committee (the “EC”),
which was established in February 2012. These committees function within clearly defined written terms of reference and operating
procedures, which will be reviewed on a regular basis.
The Articles of Association of the Company provides for meetings of the Board to be held by way of telephonic conference. The Board
and Board Committees may also make decisions through circulating resolutions. The attendances of the Directors at the Board and
Committee meetings held since the Company’s listing on 12 September 2011, and up to the date of this report were, as follows:

Board

Audit

Board Committees
Nominating

Remuneration

2

2

2

2

Number of meetings held

Number of meetings attended

Diao Weicheng
Li Jin
Zhang Wanping
Cheng Xuhui
Wu Weidong
Li Wei (2)
Teng Cheong Kwee
Chong Teck Sin
Alice Lai Kuen Kan

2
2
2
2
2
1
2
2
2

2 (1)
2 (1)
2 (1)
2 (1)
2 (1)
1 (1)
2
2
2

2
N. A.
N. A.
N. A.
N. A.
N. A.
2
2
2

N. A.
N. A.
N. A.
N. A.
N. A.
N. A.
2
2
2

N. A.: Not applicable
(1)

Attended the meetings as an invitee;

(2)

Li Wei was appointed to the Board on 14 November 2011.

The EC comprises our Executive Chairman and four Executive Directors:
Diao Weicheng
Zhang Wanping
Cheng Xuhui
Wu Weidong
Li Wei

Chairman
Member
Member
Member
Member

The EC is formed for the purpose of supervising the management of the Group’s operations, as well as facilitating and streamlining the
Group’s decision making process. This Committee is delegated with the authority and responsibility for the operational management
of the Group, within limits of authority delegated by the Board.
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The principal responsibilities of the EC are as follows:
(a)

making key decisions on the operational management and supervision of the Management of the Group’s operation;

(b) managing acquisition, disposal and transfer of fixed assets within limits authorised by the Board;
(c)

approving operational expenditure within authorised limits;

(d) entering into sale and purchase contracts in relation to shipbuilding and ship-trading within authorised limits;
(e)

managing procurement in relation to shipbuilding contract expenditure within authorised limits;

(f)

entering into operational contracts within authorised limits;

(g) obtaining borrowings and credit facilities within authorised limits;
(h) writing-off trade and non-trade receivables within authorised limits;
(i)

granting credit limits to trade debtors within authorised limits; and

(j)

reviewing the performance of the Company and the Group, deliberating on corporate strategies, group business and principal
risks, addressing important operational and financial issues and making recommendations to the Board for approval.

Any transactions that exceed the above scopes would require separate Board approval.
The execution of the above transaction needs to be approved by the Chairman of the EC and any one member of the EC.
The Company has also adopted a set of Approving Authority & Limit, setting out the level of authorisation applicable to each level of
Management for specified transactions, as well as transactions that require Board approval.

2. BOARD COMPOSITION AND GUIDANCE
Principle 2:

There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective
judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual or small
group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

The Board comprises nine (9) Directors of whom three (3) are independent, namely, Messrs Teng Cheong Kwee, Chong Teck Sin
and Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan. The criterion of independence is based on the definition set out in the Code. The Board considers an
“Independent Director” as one who has no relationship with the Company, its related companies or its officers which could interfere,
or be reasonably perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent judgment in the conduct of the Group’s affairs.
With three (3) Independent Directors, each of whom serves as Chairman of one of the three (3) Board Committees, the Board believes
it is able to exercise independent judgment on corporate affairs and provide the Management with a diverse and objective perspective
on issues. There is therefore no individual or small group of individuals, who/which dominates the Board’s decision making. The
independence of each Director is reviewed annually by the NC. Each Independent Director is required to complete a Confirmation of
Independence annually to confirm his independence based on the guidelines as set out in the Code.
The Board has examined its size and is of the view that it is appropriate for effective decision making, taking into account the scope
and nature of the operations of the Company.
The Board comprises persons who possess core competencies and experience in accounting and finance, business and management,
and strategic planning, as well as industry knowledge. The composition of the Board is reviewed on an annual basis by the NC to ensure
that the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary core competencies for
effective functioning and informed decision-making.
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The Independent Directors actively participate in the Board Committees. They communicate regularly to discuss matters such as
the Group’s financial performance, industry conditions and outlook, corporate governance initiatives, and board processes. When
necessary, the Independent Directors conduct informal meeting sessions without the presence of the Management.

3. CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, AND LEAD INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR
Principle 3:

There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the company – the working of the Board
and the executive responsibility of the company’s business – which will ensure a balance of power and
authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power.

Dr Diao Weicheng is the Executive Chairman of the Company, while Mr Zhang Wanping is an Executive Director and Chief Executive
Officer (“CEO”).
As the Executive Chairman, Dr Diao is responsible for the overall business direction and strategy of the Group. He is also leading
the efforts of AVIC International Holding Corporation group of companies to consolidate its shipbuilding and ship-trading related
businesses for transfer into the Group in accordance with the undertaking provided to the SGX-ST. Dr Diao leads the efforts of the
Group to identify and acquire strategic assets and businesses which would provide competitive advantages and would complement
the Group’s existing business.
Dr Diao maintains close consultation with all Board members, and ensures that each member of the Board and the Management works
well together with integrity and competency. He also takes a leading role in ensuring the Company’s drive to achieve and maintain a high
standard of corporate governance practices. Dr Diao is responsible for ensuring that Board meetings are held as and when necessary,
and matters that require the attention of the Board are included in the agendas, and further that adequate information is provided to the
Board members to facilitate discussion and decision making. He is assisted by the Company Secretary at all Board Meetings.
As CEO, Mr Zhang is in charge of the overall operations and financial management of the Group, as well as implementing the strategic
policies, directions or decisions made by the Chairman and/or the Board of the Company.
To enhance the independence of the Board, the Board has appointed Mr Teng Cheong Kwee as Lead Independent Director. As
Lead Independent Director, Mr Teng serves as the leader of the Independent Directors in raising queries and take up matters where
circumstances require. As and when necessary, Mr Teng will convene meetings of the Independent Directors, without the presence of
Executive Directors and the Management.

4. BOARD MEMBERSHIP
Principle 4:

There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to the Board.

The NC is responsible for making recommendations on all board appointments and re-nominations which have regard to the
contribution and performance of the Director seeking re-election.
The NC comprises Mr Teng Cheong Kwee as the Chairman, and Dr Diao Weicheng, Mr Chong Teck Sin and Ms Alice Lai Kuen
Kan as Committee members. The majority of the Committee members are Non-Executive Independent Directors, except for Dr
Diao Weicheng.
The principal responsibilities of the NC are as follows:
(a)

reviewing and recommending the nomination or re-nomination of the Directors, having regard to the Director’s contribution and
performance;

(b) determining a Director’s independence on an annual basis;
(c)

assessing the performance of the Board and contribution of each Director to the effectiveness of the Board; and

(d) reviewing and approving any new employment of related persons and the proposed terms of their employment.
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The NC conducts an annual review of directors’ independence and is of the view that Messrs Teng Cheong Kwee, Chong Teck Sin
and Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan are independent.
Pursuant to the Article 91 of the Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”), each Director is required to retire at least once
every three (3) years by rotation. As such, Mr Zhang Wanping will be retiring as director by rotation. The NC has deliberated and has
decided to recommend to the Board the nomination of Mr Zhang Wanping for re-election.
Pursuant to Article 97 of the Articles, all newly appointed Directors to the Board during the year are required to retire at the next annual
general meeting (the “AGM”) following their appointment. The retiring Directors are eligible to offer themselves for re-election. As
such, Messrs Li Jin, Cheng Xuhui, Wu Weidong, Li Wei, Teng Cheong Kwee, Chong Teck Sin and Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan, who were
appointed during the financial year, will be retiring as directors at the forthcoming AGM. The NC has deliberated and has decided to
recommend to the Board the nomination of these seven directors for re-election.
The NC has noted that the Non-Executive Directors also serve on the boards of a number of other companies. However, the NC is
satisfied that the Directors have been able to devote adequate time and attention to fulfil their duties as Directors of the Company,
notwithstanding their multiple board representations.

5. BOARD PERFORMANCE
Principle 5:

There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and the contribution
by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

The NC is responsible for recommending a framework for the evaluation of the Board’s and each individual Director’s performance for
the approval of the Board. Each member of our NC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of the assessment of his
performance or re-nomination.
The NC reviews the framework and criteria for evaluating the Board’s performance. The performance criteria for the Board evaluation
includes an evaluation of the size and composition of the Board, the Board’s access to information, accountability, Board processes,
Board performance in relation to discharging its principal responsibilities, communication with management and standard of conduct
of the Directors. An annual performance evaluation will be implemented to assess the effectiveness of the Board and contribution of
each Director. The purpose of the evaluation is to increase the overall effectiveness of the Board.
As the Company has only been listed recently in 2011, the Company’s share price performance over a five-year period vis-à-vis the
Singapore Straits Times Index and a benchmark index of its industry peers will be included as evaluation criteria at the relevant time.
The Board and the NC have endeavoured to ensure that Directors appointed to the Board possess the background, experience,
business knowledge, finance and management skills relevant to the Group’s business. They also seek to ensure that each Director,
with his special contributions, brings to the Board an independent and objective perspective to enable balanced and well-considered
decisions to be made.

6. ACCESS TO INFORMATION
Principle 6:

In order to fulfil their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, adequate and
timely information prior to the Board meetings and on an on-going basis.

Directors are furnished with information concerning the Group to facilitate their decision-making.
Prior to each Board meeting, the members of the Board are each provided with the relevant documents and information, including
financial statements together with background and explanatory statements, and progress reports of the Group’s business operations.
As a general rule, notices are sent to the Directors in advance of Board meetings, followed by the Board papers.
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The Board members (whether individually or as a whole) have separate and independent access to the Management and the Company
Secretary at all times, and may seek independent professional advice if necessary, at the expense of the Company. The Company
Secretary generally attends all Board meetings and ensures that all Board procedures are followed. Where the Company Secretary is
unable to attend any Board meeting, he ensures that a suitable replacement is in attendance and that proper minutes of the same are
taken and kept. The Company Secretary also ensures that the Company complies with the requirements of the Singapore Companies
Act, Chapter 50, and the Listing Manual. Under the direction of the Executive Chairman, the Company Secretary’s responsibilities
include ensuring good information flow within the Board and its Committees and between senior management and Non-Executive
Directors, as well as facilitating orientation and assisting with professional development as required.
The appointment and the removal of the Company Secretary are subject to the Board’s approval.

7. REMUNERATION MATTERS
Principle 7:

There should be a formal and transparent procedure for development policy on executive remuneration
and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in
deciding his own remuneration.

The RC makes recommendations to the Board on the framework of remuneration, and the specific remuneration packages for each
Director and the CEO.
The RC comprises Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan, as the Chairman, and Messrs Teng Cheong Kwee and Chong Teck Sin, as the Committee
members, all of whom are Non-Executive Independent Directors.
The principal responsibilities of the RC are as follows:
(a)

recommending to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors and Executive Officers which covers all aspects of
remuneration, including but not limited to directors’ fees, salaries, allowances, bonuses, options and benefits-in-kind;

(b) determining specific remuneration packages for each Executive Director;
(c)

recommending to the Board the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors, which should be appropriate to the level of their
respective contributions, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, and the responsibilities of our Non-Executive
Directors; and

(d) determining the targets for any performance-related pay schemes in respect of the Executive Directors of the Group, and to
review and to recommend to the Board the terms of renewal of their service contracts.
The RC has access to appropriate expert advice regarding executive compensation matters, if required.
The remuneration packages of the Executive Directors are based on service contracts. The Non-Executive and Independent Directors
are paid yearly directors’ fees and these fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at the AGM.
The RC’s recommendations will be submitted for endorsement by the Board. No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

8. LEVEL AND MIX OF REMUNERATION
Principle 8:

The level of remuneration should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate the directors needed
to run the company successfully but companies should avoid paying more than is necessary for this
purpose. A significant proportion of executive directors’ remuneration should be structured so as to
link rewards to corporate and individual performance.

The Executive Directors have service contracts of an initial term of three (3) years which will continue thereafter until terminated by not
less than six (6) months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other.
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The remuneration package of the Executive Directors includes basic salary and contribution to compulsory pension plans as required
under the relevant PRC laws. In setting remuneration packages, the Company takes into consideration the remuneration and
employment conditions within the same industry and in comparable companies. The RC shall review the compensation annually and
ensure the remuneration of the Executive Directors is commensurate with their performance and that of the Company, giving due
regard to the financial and commercial health and business needs of the Group.
The Independent Directors receive directors’ fees, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, as well as the responsibilities
and obligations of the directors. The Company recognises the need to pay competitive fees to attract, motivate and retain Directors
without being excessive.

9. DISCLOSURE ON REMUNERATION
Principle 9:

Each Company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of remuneration,
and the procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s annual report. It should provide disclosure
in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration
paid to directors and key executives, and performance.

The remuneration paid or payable to the Directors and the Executive Officers for services rendered for the period from the Company’s
date of incorporation, 11 November 2010 to 31 December 2011 (“FP2011”) by percentage is, as follows:

Salary
%

Performance
Bonus
%

Fee
%

Allowances
%

Total
%

Diao Weicheng
Li Jin
Zhang Wanping
Cheng Xuhui
Wu Weidong
Li Wei
Teng Cheong Kwee
Chong Teck Sin
Alice Lai Kuen Kan

100
100
100
100
-

-

100
100
100

-

100
100
100
100
100
100
100

Executive Officers
Below S$250,000
Li Ying

100

-

-

-

100

Remuneration bands
Directors
Below S$250,000

•

The salary shown is inclusive of compulsory pension plans as required under the relevant PRC and/or Singapore laws.

•

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at the AGM.

The Company has no share option plans. Accordingly, no share option has been granted to the above Directors and Executive Officers.
There were no employees of the Group who are immediate family members of a Director, the CEO or a substantial shareholder of the
Company, and whose remuneration exceeded S$150,000 during the financial period ended 31 December 2011. “Immediate family
member” means the spouse, child, adopted child, stepchild, brother, sister and parent.
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10. ACCOUNTABILITY
Principle 10: The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance,
position and prospects.
Through the quarterly, half yearly and annual financial statements and announcements to shareholders, the Board aims to provide
shareholders with adequate details that would allow a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s financial position and
prospects. The AC has been tasked to review the Company’s financial information to ensure that the objective is met.

11. AUDIT COMMITTEE
Principle 11: The Board should establish an Audit Committee with written terms of reference, which clearly set out
its authority and duties.
The AC comprises Mr Chong Teck Sin as the Chairman, and Mr Teng Cheong Kwee and Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan as the Committee
members, all of whom are Non-Executive Independent Directors.
The members of the AC have sufficient financial management expertise, as interpreted by the Board in its business judgment, to
discharge the AC’s functions.
The principal responsibilities of the AC are as follows:
(a)

reviewing, together with the internal and external auditors, the audit plan, their evaluation of the system of internal accounting
controls, their letter to the Management and the Management’s response. It is intended that the AC shall, at least once a year,
have a separate session with the external auditors;

(b) reviewing the quarterly, half yearly and annual results announcements before submission to our Board for approval, focusing
in particular on changes in accounting policies and practices, major risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the audit,
compliance with accounting standards and compliance with the Listing Manual and any other relevant statutory or regulatory
requirements;
(c)

reviewing the internal control procedures implemented by the Group, determining the scope of internal audit examinations and
ensuring co-ordination between the internal/external auditors and the Management, and reviewing the assistance given by the
Management to the auditors, and discussing problems and concerns, if any, arising from audits, and any matters which the
auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of the Management, where necessary);

(d) reviewing and discussing with the external auditors any suspected fraud or irregularity, or suspected infringement of any relevant
laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results or financial position,
and the Management’s response;
(e)

considering and recommending the appointment or re-appointment of the external auditors, matters relating to the resignation or
dismissal of the auditors and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;

(f)

reviewing interested person transactions (if any) falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual;

(g) reviewing potential conflicts of interests, if any;
(h) undertaking such other reviews and projects as may be requested by the Board, and reporting to the Board its findings from time
to time on matters arising and requiring the attention of the AC;
(i)

generally undertaking such other functions and duties as may be required by statute or the Listing Manual, or by such amendments
as may be made thereto from time to time;

(j)

reviewing and approving all hedging policies and instruments to be implemented by our Group, if any; and
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reviewing and approving the appointment of the Chief Financial Officer and Financial Controller to the extent that the finance and
accounting function is appropriately resourced.

The AC has full authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference, and will be given full access to and full co-operation
from the Management and full discretion to invite any Director, Executive Officer or other employee of the Group to attend its meetings,
and is given reasonable resources to enable it to discharge its functions properly and effectively.
The AC meets with the external auditors and with the internal auditors (if deemed necessary), without the presence of the Management,
at least annually.
The AC undertakes such further functions as may be agreed to by the AC and the Board from time to time.
Deloitte & Touche LLP (“Deloitte”) the external auditors of the Company, were responsible for providing services in connection with the
audit of the financial statements of the Group for FP2011. For FP2011, the total remuneration in respect of audit services provided by
Deloitte for the Group amounted to approximately RMB1.28 million. No non-audit services were provided by Deloitte.
The AC has reviewed and is satisfied that the external auditors have not provided any non-audit services to the Group during the
FP2011 that will prejudice their independence and objectivity.
Followed the Company’s successful listing on the SGX-ST in September 2011, the Company is in the progress of putting in place
a whistle-blowing framework, which provides mechanisms where employees of the Company may, in good faith and in confidence,
raise concerns or observations about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters, with the objective of
ensuring independent investigation of such matters and appropriate follow-up action. The AC will review the whistle-blowing policies
and arrangements.

12. INTERNAL CONTROLS
Principle 12: The Board should ensure that Management maintains a sound system of internal controls to safeguard
the shareholders’ investment and the company’s assets.
The Group’s internal controls and systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the
financial information and to safeguard and maintain accountability of assets. Procedures are in place to identify major business risks
and evaluate potential financial effects, as well as for the authorisation of capital expenditure and investments.
The external auditors carry out, in the course of their statutory audit, an annual reviews of the effectiveness of the Group’s key internal
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls as well as risk management to the extent of their scope as laid out in
their audit plan. Any material weaknesses in internal controls, together with recommendation for improvement, are reported to the AC.
The Board believes that, in the absence of any evidence to the contrary, the system of internal controls maintained by the Management
provides reasonable assurance against material financial misstatements or loss, safeguarding of assets, the maintenance of proper
accounting records, reliability of financial information, compliance with legislation, regulations and best practices, and the identification
and management of business risks. The Board is therefore of the view, with the concurrence of the AC, that the system of internal
controls and risk management maintained by the Group is adequate to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets
in the current business environment.
The Board notes that no system of internal control can provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor
judgment in decision-making, human error, fraud or other irregularities.

13. INTERNAL AUDIT
Principle 13: The Company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits.
The AC has appointed TransFingo Pte Ltd (“TransFingo”) to be the Company’s internal auditor. TransFingo will undertake appropriate
regular reviews in accordance with an internal audit plan approved by the AC to review the effectiveness of the Company’s system of
internal controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls, and risk management. The internal auditor reports directly
to the AC. The internal auditor’s scope of work and its internal audit findings will be submitted to the AC for review.
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14. COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
Principle 14: Companies should engage in regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.
The Company recognises that effective communication leads to transparency and enhances accountability. The Company regularly
conveys pertinent information, gathers views or input, and addresses shareholders’ concerns. In this regard, the Company provides
timely information to its shareholders via SGXNET announcements and news releases and ensures that price-sensitive information is
publicly released, and is announced within the mandatory period. The Company does not practise selective disclosure.

15. GREATER SHAREHOLDER PARTICIPATION
Principle 15: Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at AGMs, and allow shareholders the
opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.
Shareholders are informed of shareholders’ meeting through notices contained in annual reports or circulars sent to all shareholders.
These notices are also published in the newspaper and posted onto the SGXNET. If shareholders are unable to attend the meeting,
the Articles allow a shareholder to appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote in place of the shareholder.
Resolutions at general meetings are on each substantially separate issues. All the resolutions at the general meetings are single item
resolutions.
The Chairman of each of the EC, AC, RC and NC will attend the Company’s AGM to address shareholders’ questions relating to the
work of these Committees. The Company’s external auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, will also be invited to attend the AGM and are
available to assist the Directors in addressing any relevant queries by the shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and the
preparation and content of their auditors’ report.

16. DEALINGS IN SECURITIES
In compliance with the best practices set out in the Listing Manual on dealings in securities, the Company has devised its own
internal compliance code to provide guidance to its officers. The Directors and employees of the Company are advised not deal in
the Company’s shares on short-term considerations or when they are in the possession of unpublished price-sensitive information.
The Company prohibits dealings in its shares by its officers and employees during the period commencing two (2) weeks before the
announcement of the Company’s financial statements for each of the first three (3) quarters of its financial year, or one (1) month before
the announcement of the Company’s full financial year results, as the case may be, and ending on the day of the announcement of
the relevant results.

17. RISK MANAGEMENT
The Company does not have a Risk Management Committee. However, the Management regularly reviews the Group’s business and
operational activities to identify areas of significant business risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks.
The Management reviews all significant control policies and procedures and highlights all significant matters to the Board and the AC.

18. MATERIAL CONTRACTS
Save for the material contracts disclosed in the Company’s information memorandum dated 10 August 2011 in relation to its Listing
(the “Information Memorandum”), including (a) the management agreement dated 29 June 2011 (the “Management Agreement”)
between the Company and its majority shareholder, AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd. (“AVIC International Beijing”), (b) the service
agreement dated 3 August 2011 (the “Service Agreement”) between AVIC Kaixin (Beijing) Ship Industry Co., Ltd. (“Kaixin Beijing”)
and AVIC International Beijing, and (c) the sale and purchase agreement dated 18 June 2011 (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
between Kaixin Beijing and China National Aero-Technology Import and Export Corporation (“CATIC”), the details of which will be
disclosed below, there were no other material contracts of the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests of the CEO or any
Director or controlling shareholder, either subsisting at the end of the financial period or if not then subsisting, which were entered into
since the Company’s date of incorporation:
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(a) The Management Agreement:
On 29 June 2011, the Company entered into the Management Agreement with AVIC International Beijing, pursuant to which
the Company agreed to provide project management and consultancy services (“M&C Services”) with effect from 1 January
2011, for the nineteen (19) vessels to be delivered by year 2013, until the date when the outstanding order books of AVIC
International Beijing as at 31 December 2010 are fulfilled, for an annual fee of RMB28.0 million (before sales taxes and surcharges
of approximately 5.5%). The fee is payable quarterly and will be subject to adjustments as may be agreed upon between the
parties, depending on the progress of the construction of the vessels.

(b) The Service Agreement:
On 3 August 2011, Kaixin Beijing entered into an agreement with AVIC International Beijing, pursuant to which Kaixin Beijing will
provide M&C Services to AVIC International Beijing in order for the latter to fulfil its obligations under the service agreement with
Taizhou CATIC Shipbuilding Heavy Industry Limited (“Taizhou CATIC”). In return, AVIC International Beijing will pay the net fees
(after sales taxes and surcharges of approximately 5.5%) received from Taizhou CATIC to our Group within three (3) business
days. The service agreement is for a term of one (1) year.

(c) The Sale and Purchase Agreement:
On 18 June 2011, Kaixin Beijing entered into a sale and purchase agreement with CATIC, pursuant to which a fee of RMB28.3
million is payable to Kaxin Beijing for, inter alia, the provision of project management services, the handling of export procedural
matters, and the delivery of nineteen (19) vessels by our Group. The vessels will subsequently be sold by CATIC to a third
party buyer.
The fee payable is determined based on the actual cost of the vessels and arrived at on an arm’s-length basis. The total fee is
payable to Kaixin Beijing within fifteen (15) days of receipt of milestone payments received by CATIC on the sale of the vessels to
the third party buyer.
Please refer to page 97 and 98 of the Information Memorandum for further details on the aforesaid material contracts.

19. INTERESTED PERSON TRANSACTIONS
The Group has adopted an internal policy which sets out the procedures for the identification, approval and monitoring of interested
person transactions (“IPTs”). All IPTs are subject to review by the AC. Save for the Management Agreement, the Service Agreement
and the Sale and Purchase Agreement as disclosed in the section entitled “Material Contracts” above, the Company did not enter
into any IPTs which require disclosure or shareholders’ approval under SGX-ST Listing Rules regulating IPTs during the financial period
ended 31 December 2011.

FP2011
Service fee income from AVIC International
Beijing
Service fee income from CATIC
Management service fee income from AVIC
International Beijing
Note:

Aggregate value of all IPTs during
the financial year under review
(excluding transactions less than
$100,000 and transactions conducted
under shareholders’ mandate
pursuant to Rule 920)
(RMB’000)

Aggregate value of all IPTs
conducted under shareholders’
mandate pursuant to Rule 920
(excluding transactions
less than $100,000)
(RMB’000)

24,109
9,046

-

23,625

-

The amounts of the transactions are before sales taxes and surcharges.
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20. USE OF PROCEEDS RAISED FROM COMPLIANCE PLACEMENT
The Company has raised approximately S$10.6 million from its compliance placement exercise completed on 6 October 2011
(“Compliance Placement”) in relation to the placement of 53,576,000 new shares (“Placement Shares”) at S$0.285 per
Placement Share.
As at the date of the Annual Report, the total net proceeds of approximately S$10.6 million (after deducting expenses arising from
the Compliance Placement) were utilised as follows:
Amount Allocated
(S$ million)

Total Amount Utilised
(S$ million)

Balance
(S$ million)

Partial financing of acquisition
Working capital and any future
acquisitions, joint ventures and
strategic alliances

8.0

-

8.0

2.6

-

2.6

Total

10.6

-

10.6

Purpose of Utilisation
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial
position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial period from November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011.

1

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:
Diao Weicheng
Li Jin
Zhang Wanping
Chen Xuhui
Wu Weidong
Li Wei
Teng Cheong Kwee
Chong Teck Sin
Alice Lai Kuen Kan

2

(Appointed on November 11, 2010)
(Appointed on March 10, 2011)
(Appointed on November 11, 2010)
(Appointed on March 10, 2011)
(Appointed on March 10, 2011)
(Appointed on November 14, 2011)
(Appointed on April 18, 2011)
(Appointed on April 18, 2011)
(Appointed on April 18, 2011)

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION
OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES
Neither at the end of the financial period nor at any time during the financial period did there subsist any arrangement whose
object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures in the
Company or any other body corporate.

3

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES
The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial period and at January 21, 2012 had no interests in the
share capital and debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings
kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50.

4

DIRECTORS’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS
Since the date of incorporation, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is required to be disclosed
under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related
corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a Company in which he has a substantial financial
interest except for salaries, bonuses and other benefits as disclosed in the financial statements. Certain directors received
remuneration from related corporations in their capacity as directors and/or executives of those related corporations.

5

SHARE OPTIONS
a)

Options to take up unissued shares
During the financial period, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group were
granted.

b) Options exercised
During the financial period, there were no shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group issued by virtue of the
exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

c)

Unissued shares under options
At the end of the financial period, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group under
options.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee of the Company, consisting of all non-executive directors was constituted on April 18, 2011 and is chaired
by Chong Teck Sin and includes Teng Cheong Kwee and Alice Lai Kuen Kan. The Audit Committee has met two times since the
date of constitution to the date of this report and has reviewed the following, where relevant, with the executive directors and/or
external auditors of the Company:
(a)

the audit plan from external auditors and evaluation of the Group’s system of internal accounting controls;

(b) the Group’s financial and operating results and accounting policies;
(c) the quarterly and annual announcements as well as the related press releases on the results and financial position of the
Company and the Group;
(d) the interested person transaction (if any) falling within the scope of Chapter 9 of the listing manual;
(e)

the co-operation and assistance given by the management to the Group’s external auditors; and

(f)

the re-appointment of the external auditors of the Group.

The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given the resources required
for it to discharge its functions properly. It also has full discretion to invite any director and executive officer to attend its meetings.
The external auditors have unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.
The Audit Committee has recommended to the directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for re-appointment as external
auditors of the Group at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

7

AUDITORS
The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Zhang Wanping

Li Wei

March 28, 2012
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS
In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and statement
of changes in equity of the Company set out on pages 38 to 60 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the Company as at December 31, 2011 and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and
changes in equity of the Company for the financial period from November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2011 and
at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Zhang Wanping
March 28, 2012
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF AVIC INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS LIMITED
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of AVIC International Investments Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company as at December 31, 2011, the
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of
changes in equity of the Company for the financial period from November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2011 and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 38 to 60.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the provisions
of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and for devising and maintaining a system
of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised
use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true
and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes
in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting
Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at December 31, 2011 and of the
results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the financial period from November
11, 2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2011.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by a subsidiary incorporated in
Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants
Singapore
March 28, 2012
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STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
December 31, 2011

Group
2011
RMB’000

Company
2011
RMB’000

7
8
9
10

145,196
11,065
21,631
177,892

66,906
13,397
80,303

11
12

4,364
4,364
182,256

80,303

13
14

20,000
7,004
12,925
39,929

2,064
2,064

15
16
16

101,237
6,489
(2,070)
36,671
142,327
182,256

101,237
(2,462)
(20,536)
78,239
80,303

Note

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables
Other receivables
Amount due from a subsidiary
Total current assets
Non-current assets
Investment in a subsidiary
Plant and equipment
Total non-current assets
Total assets

*

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Bank loan
Other payables and accruals
Income tax payable
Total current liabilities
Capital and reserves
Share capital
Statutory reserve
Translation reserve
Accumulated profits (losses)
Total equity
Total liabilities and equity
*

Denotes amount less than RMB1,000.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

38

AVIC International Investments Limited Annual Report 2011

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Financial period from November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2011

Note

November 11, 2010
(date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011
RMB’000

Revenue

17

99,580

Other operating income

18

1,082

Employee benefits expense

(7,689)

Travelling and entertainment expenses

(4,085)

Office rental and office expenses

(2,943)

Listing expenses

20

Other operating expenses

(17,674)
(3,470)

Finance cost

(12)

Profit before income tax

64,789

Income tax expense

19

(21,629)

Profit for the period, attributable to owners of the company

20

43,160

Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences arising on translation

(2,070)

Total comprehensive income for the period
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)

41,090
21

36.36

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Financial period from November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2011

Share
capital
RMB’000

Statutory
reserve
RMB’000

Translation
reserve
RMB’000

Accumulated
profits/(losses)
RMB’000

Total
equity
RMB’000

*

-

-

-

-

107,689
(6,452)
101,237

6,489
6,489

(2,070)
(2,070)

43,160
(6,489)
36,671

41,090
107,689
(6,452)
142,327

*

-

-

-

-

107,689
(6,452)
101,237

-

(2,462)
(2,462)

(20,536)
(20,536)

(22,998)
107,689
(6,452)
78,239

Group
Balance at date of incorporation,
November 11, 2010
Total comprehensive (loss)/income for
the period
Issue of ordinary share (Note 15)
New shares issuance expense (Note 15)
Transfer to statutory reserve
Balance as at December 31, 2011
Company
Balance at date of incorporation,
November 11, 2010
Total comprehensive loss for the period
Issue of ordinary share (Note 15)
New shares issuance expense (Note 15)
Balance as at December 31, 2011
*

Denotes amount less than RMB1,000.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Financial period from November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2011

November 11, 2010
(date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011
RMB’000

Operating activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Interest income
Listing expenses
Net foreign exchange gains
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital

64,789
287
(1,082)
17,674
(1,290)
80,378

Trade receivables
Other receivables
Other payables and accruals
Cash generated from operations

(11,065)
(1,631)
7,004
74,686

Income tax paid
Interest received
Net cash from operating activities

(8,704)
1,082
67,064

Investing activity
Purchase of plant and equipment, representing net cash used in investing activity

(4,638)

Financing activities
Payments of share issue expenses
Proceeds on issue of shares
Other receivables
New bank loan raised
Net cash from financing activities

(24,126)
107,689
(20,000)
20,000
83,563

Net increase in cash and bank balances
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in foreign currencies
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

145,989
(793)
145,196

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2011

1

GENERAL
The Company (Registration No. 201024137N) is incorporated in Singapore with its registered office at 10 Collyer Quay,
#27-00 Ocean Financial Centre, Singapore 049315 and principal place of business at 24th Floor, North Star Times Tower, No.
8 Beichendong Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing 100101, the People’s Republic of China. The Company was admitted to the
Mainboard of Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) on September 12, 2011 (the “Listing”).
The Company was listed via the acquisition of listing status of another listed company Sino-Environment Technology Group
Limited (“SETGL”), which was placed under Judicial Management and whose share was delisted from the Official List of SGX-ST,
on September 13, 2011, after Company’s successful listing on the SGX-ST.
Pursuant to the scheme between SETGL and its shareholders and creditors dated August 10, 2011 (the “Scheme”), on
September 9, 2011, 12,000,000 shares were transferred from the Company’s immediate holding company to the Scheme
Administrators for distribution to SETGL shareholders and creditors. After the actual Compliance Placement Price of S$0.285
was fixed, on October 4, 2011, an additional 9,052,631 shares were transferred from Company’s immediate holding company to
the Scheme Administrators for distribution to SETGL shareholders and creditors pursuant to the Scheme.
The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are described in Note 11 to the financial statements.
Pursuant to a group restructuring exercise to rationalise the structure of the Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “Group”), in preparation for the listing of the Company on the SGX-ST, the Company underwent a restructuring
exercise (“Restructuring Exercise”) involving following:

(a) Incorporation of the Company
The Company was incorporated under the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, on November 11, 2010. At incorporation,
the share capital of the Company comprised one ordinary share, which was held by AVIC International Kairong Limited.

(b) Incorporation of Kaixin Industrial Pte. Ltd. (“Kaixin Industrial”)
Kaixin Industrial was incorporated under the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50, on January 14, 2011 as a private
limited company. At incorporation, the share capital of Kaixin Industrial comprised one ordinary share, which was held by
the Company.

(c) Incorporation of AVIC Kaixin (Beijing) Ship Industry Co., Ltd (“Kaixin Beijing”)
Kaixin Beijing was incorporated in the PRC on April 19, 2011 as a wholly foreign owned enterprise. At incorporation, Kaixin
Beijing had a registered capital of US$650,000, which was entirely held by Kaixin Industrial.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of
the Company for the financial period from November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2011 were authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on March 28, 2012.

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF ACCOUNTING – The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis, except as disclosed
in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter
50, and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS – In the current financial period, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual periods beginning from
the date of incorporation.
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRS that are relevant
to the Group and the Company were issued but not effective:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(cont’d)

December 31, 2011

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
•
•
•
•
•

Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments relating to Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income
Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Transfers of Financial Assets
FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements
FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

The management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRS, INT FRS and amendments to FRS in future periods will not
have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company on the period of their initial adoption except
for the following:
Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements – Amendments relating to Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income (“OCI”)
The amendment on Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”) presentation will require the Group to present in separate groupings,
OCI items that might be recycled i.e., reclassified to profit or loss (e.g., those arising from cash flow hedging, foreign currency
translation) and those items that would not be recycled (e.g. revaluation gains on property, plant and equipment under the
revaluation model). The tax effects recognised for the OCI items would also be captured in the respective grouping, although there
is a choice to present OCI items before tax or net of tax.
Changes arising from these amendments to FRS 1 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after July 1, 2012, with full
retrospective application.
When the entity adopts the amendments, it will have to present revaluation gains on property, plant and equipment and the
corresponding tax effects separately from other OCI items that might be recycled to profit or loss.
Amendments to FRS 107 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Transfers of Financial Assets
The amendments to FRS 107 increase the disclosure requirements for transactions involving transfers of financial assets. These
amendments are intended to provide greater transparency around risk exposures when a financial asset is transferred but the
transferor retains some level of continuing exposure in the asset. The amendments also require disclosures where transfers of
financial assets are not evenly distributed throughout the period.
The Group does not anticipate that these amendments to FRS 107 will have a significant effect on the Group’s disclosures
regarding its existing arrangements for transfers of trade receivables. However, if the Group enters into other types of transfers of
financial assets in the future, disclosures regarding those transfers may be affected.
FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements
FRS 110 replaces the control assessment criteria and consolidation requirements currently in FRS 27 and INT FRS 12
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.
FRS 110 defines the principle of control and establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are consolidated in
the consolidated financial statements. It also provides more extensive application guidance on assessing control based on voting
rights or other contractual rights. Under FRS 110, control assessment will be based on whether an investor has (i) power over the
investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power over
the investee to affect the amount of the returns. FRS 27 remains as a standard applicable only to separate financial statements.
FRS 110 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with full retrospective application.
When the Group adopts FRS 110, entities it currently consolidates may not qualify for consolidation, and entities it currently does
not consolidate may qualify for consolidation. The Group is currently estimating the effects of FRS 110 on its investments in the
period of initial adoption.
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2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
FRS 112 requires an entity to provide more extensive disclosures regarding the nature of and risks associated with its interest in
subsidiaries, associates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured entities.
FRS 112 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2013, and the Group is currently estimating extent
of additional disclosures needed.
FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement
FRS 113 is a single new Standard that applies to both financial and non-financial items. It replaces the guidance on fair value
measurement and related disclosures in other Standards, with the exception of measurement dealt with under FRS 102 Sharebased Payment, FRS 17 Leases, net realisable value in FRS 2 Inventories and value-in-use in FRS 36 Impairment of Assets.
FRS 113 provides a common fair value definition and hierarchy applicable to the fair value measurement of assets, liabilities, and
an entity’s own equity instruments within its scope, but does not change the requirements in other Standards regarding which
items should be measured or disclosed at fair value.
FRS 113 will be effective prospectively from annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Comparative information is not
required for periods before initial application.
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION – The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Company has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line
with those used by other members of the Group.
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. The interest of non-controlling
shareholders that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net assets in the
event of liquidation may be initially measured (at date of original business combination) either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another FRS. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying
amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share
of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate
of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly
to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value
of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on
initial recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly controlled entity.
In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment in net recoverable value
that has been recognised in the profit or loss.
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets
Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets “at fair value through profit or loss”, “held-tomaturity investments”, “available-for-sale financial assets” and “loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature
and purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. The Group does not have financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets.
Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating interest
income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payment (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transactions costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a
shorter period. Income and expense are recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial
instruments at “fair value through profit or loss”.
Trade and other receivables
Trade receivable, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market
are classified as “loans and receivables”. Trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when
the recognition of interest would be immaterial.
Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each
reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers
the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the
Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial
asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
Interest-bearing bank loans are initially measured at fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the settlement or redemption of
borrowings is recognised over the term of the borrowings in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.
LEASES – Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease
unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets
are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets except for construction in progress over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

Computer
Office equipment
Motor vehicles
Renovation

Number of years
3
3
5
3

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any changes
in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS – At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its
tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
If the recoverable, amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
STATUTORY RESERVE – Statutory reserve represents the amount transferred from profit after tax of the subsidiaries incorporated
in the People’s Republic of China (excluding Hong Kong) (the “PRC”) in accordance with the PRC requirement. The statutory
reserve cannot be reduced except where approval is obtained from the relevant PRC authority to apply the amount towards
setting off any accumulated losses or increasing capital.
REVENUE – Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for sale of goods and rendering of
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.
Service fee income
Service fee income generated from the provision of project management and consultancy services relating to shipbuilding, which
cover ship design and construction (both of which are outsourced to third parties), procurement, new building management and
marine finance is recognised by reference to the stage of completion in accordance with the following milestones: (i) contract
being effective; (ii) steel cutting; (iii) keel laying; (iv) launching; and (v) delivery of vessel. The percentage of completion is computed
by using time proportion method.
Management service fee
Management service fee is recognised when services are rendered which include management and services rendered with
respect to marketing and consulting activities.
Commission income
Commission income is recognised when services are rendered which include provision of marketing services to shipyards in
securing the shipbuilding contracts.
Interest income
Interest income from a financial institution is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS – Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense as they
fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt
with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a
defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government, the PRC subsidiary of the Group (the “PRC Subsidiary”)
has participated in central pension schemes (the “Schemes”) operated by local municipal governments whereby the PRC
Subsidiary is required to contribute a certain percentage of the basic salaries of their employees to the Schemes to fund their
retirement benefits. The local municipal governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit obligations of all existing and
future retired employees of the PRC Subsidiary. The only obligation of the PRC subsidiary with respect to the Schemes is to
pay the ongoing required contributions under the Schemes mentioned above. Contributions under the Schemes are charged
as expenses when incurred.
LISTING EXPENSES – Listing expenses that are directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are accounted for as a
deduction from equity. Expenses incurred do not relate to the issuance of new shares are recognised in profit or loss.
INCOME TAX – Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the statement of
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further
excludes items that are not taxable or tax deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and subsidiaries operate by the end of
each reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised
based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of each reporting period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current
tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. Current and deferred taxes are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION – The individual financial statements of each Group entity are
measured and presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).
The consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position of the Company are presented in
Chinese Renminbi (“RMB”). The functional currency of the Company is Singapore Dollar (“SGD”). The management believes that
RMB will be better reflecting the underlying transactions and balances the Group has.
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency
are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are included in profit
or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Company (including comparatives)
are expressed in RMB using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items (including
comparatives) are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during
that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
classified as other comprehensive income and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities (including monetary
items that, in substance, form part of the net investment in foreign entities), are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in a separate component of equity under the header of translation reserve.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS – Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash
flows comprise cash held at banks and demand deposits that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

3

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies
Management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected to have a significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are discussed below.
Income taxes
The Group has exposure to income taxes mainly in the People’s Republic of China. Significant judgement is involved in determining
the Group’s provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises liabilities for expected tax issues based on estimates
on whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made. The
carrying amount of the Group’s income tax payable at December 31, 2011 is RMB12,925,000.
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3

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Cont’d)
Service fee income
The Group recognises service fee income by reference to the stage of completion in accordance with the following milestones (i)
contract being effective; (ii) steel cutting; (iii) keel laying; (iv) launching; and (v) delivery of vessel. The percentage of completion is
computed by using time proportion method. Significant judgement is required in estimating the period of time from the date of
contract being effective to the date of delivery of vessel which affects the service fee income recognised to-date based on the
percentage of completion. In making its judgement, the Group relies on past experience and the work of specialists.

4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
(a)

Categories of financial instruments
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

Financial assets
Loans and receivables (including cash and cash equivalents)

Group
2011
RMB’000

Company
2011
RMB’000

168,791

80,303

27,004

2,064

Financial liabilities
Amortised cost
(b)

Financial risk management policies and objectives
The management of the Group monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective manner. These risks include market risk (foreign exchange
risk, interest rate risk and equity price risk), credit and liquidity risk.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purpose.
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages and measures
the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.
(i)

Foreign exchange risk management
The Group’s transactions are largely denominated in RMB and the Group has limited exposure to foreign exchange risk
except for bank balances denominated in United States dollars of RMB200,000. The Group does not enter into any
derivative financial instruments to manage its foreign currency risk.
Foreign currency sensitivity
If RMB is to weaken/strengthen by 10% against the United States dollar, the Group’s profit will increase/decrease by
approximately RMB20,000.

(ii)

Interest rate risk management
The Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s fixed deposits with banks and debt
obligations. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its risks and the details of the Group’s
interest rate exposure is disclosed in Note 7 and Note 13 to the financial statements.
No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the banks and debt obligations are at fixed interest rates.
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4

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)
(iii) Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group.
The Group has established credit limits for customers and monitors their balances.
The Group has significant concentration risk in respect of trade receivables from a related company of RMB9,096,000,
an intermediate holding company of RMB1,969,000 and other receivables from a related company of RMB20,000,000.
The details are set out in Notes 8 and 9 respectively.
Cash is held with creditworthy financial institutions.
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, represents the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk.
(iv) Liquidity risk management
The Group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance their activities.
The Group finances its liquidity needs through internally generated cash flows and external financing, and minimises
liquidity risk by keeping committed credit lines available.
All financial assets and liabilities as at December 31, 2011 are repayable on demand.
(v) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, trade and other receivables and payables approximate their respective
fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments.
The fair values of other classes of financial assets and liabilities are disclosed in the respective notes to the financial
statements.
(c)

Capital risk management policies and objectives
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance, and to ensure that all
externally imposed capital requirements are complied with.
The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising issued capital
and retained earnings.

5

HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS
The Company is a subsidiary of AVIC International Kairong Limited, incorporated in the People’s Republic of China. The ultimate
holding company is Aviation Industry Corporation of China, incorporated in the People’s Republic of China. The intermediate
holding company is AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd, incorporated in the People’s Republic of China. Related companies in
these financial statements refer to members of the ultimate holding company’s group of companies.
Some of the Company’s transactions and arrangements are between members of the Group and the effect of these on the basis
determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The intercompany balances are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.
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5

HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)
Significant transactions with related companies
Group
November 11, 2010
(date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011
RMB’000

Service fee income relating to shipbuilding from an intermediate holding company (1)
Service fee income from a related company (1)
Commission income from an intermediate holding company (1)
Management service fee income from an intermediate holding company (1)

(1)

6

24,109
9,046
47,633
23,625
104,413

The amounts of the transaction are before sales taxes and surcharges.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Some of the Company’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis determined
between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand
unless otherwise stated.
Compensation of directors and key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the period was as follows:
Group
2011
RMB’000

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

2,308
200

The remuneration of directors and executive officers of the Company is determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

7

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances
Fixed deposits
Total

Group
2011
RMB’000

Company
2011
RMB’000

96,303
48,893
145,196

18,013
48,893
66,906

Cash and bank balances mainly comprise cash held at bank. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair values.
Fixed deposits bear an average interest rate of 0.03% per annum for tenures of 7 days.
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7

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont’d)
The Group’s and Company’s cash and bank balances that are not denominated in the functional currencies of the respective
entities are as follows:

United States dollar

8

Group
2011
RMB’000

Company
2011
RMB’000

200

14

TRADE RECEIVABLES
Group
2011
RMB’000

Accrued revenue from a related company
Trade receivable from an intermediate holding company (Note 5)

9,096
1,969
11,065

Trade receivable from an intermediate company is not past due and not impaired.

9

OTHER RECEIVABLES
Group
2011
RMB’000

Amount due from a related company (Note 5)
Deposits
Prepayments
Others
Total

20,000
1,606
5
20
21,631

The Group’s other receivables are interest-free, repayable on demand and unsecured. The Group has not made any provision as
management is of the view that these receivables are not impaired and recoverable.

10 AMOUNT DUE FROM A SUBSIDIARY
The amount due from a subsidiary denominated in Singapore dollar is non-trade related, unsecured, non-interest bearing,
repayable on demand.

11 INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY
Company
2011
RMB’000

Unquoted shares, at cost
*

*

Amount less than RMB1,000.
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11 INVESTMENT IN A SUBSIDIARY (Cont’d)
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at December 31, 2011 are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries

Country of
incorporation
and operation

Proportion
of ownership
interest
%
2011

Kaixin Industrial Pte. Ltd. (1)

Singapore

100

Ship-trading and shipbuilding businesses

PRC

100

Ship-trading agency and import and
export business

Principal activities

Subsidiary of Kaixin Industrial Pte. Ltd.
AVIC Kaixin (Beijing) Ship Industry Co., Ltd (2)

(1)

Incorporated on January 14, 2011. Audited by Deloitte & Touche, Singapore.

(2)

Incorporated on April 19, 2011. Audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Hong Kong for consolidation purposes.

12 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Office
equipment
RMB’000

Computer
RMB’000

Motor
vehicles
RMB’000

Renovation
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

56

101

2,239

2,242

4,638

5
5

5
5

78
(4)
74

199
(9)
190

287
(13)
274

51

96

2,165

2,052

4,364

Group
Cost:
Additions during the period and
balance at December 31, 2011
Accumulated depreciation:
Depreciation
Exchange realignments
At December 31, 2011
Carrying amount:
At December 31, 2011
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13 BANK LOAN
Group
2011
RMB’000

Bank loan (unsecured)

20,000

The bank loan is covered by an intermediate holding company and bears a fixed interest rate of 7.22%. The bank loan was
advanced on December 31, 2011.
The carrying amount of bank loan approximates its fair value based on the borrowing rates currently available for bank loans with
similar terms and maturity and the interest rates approximate the market interest rates.

14 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Accrued expenses
Other payables due to an intermediate holding company (Note 5)
Other tax payable
Others
Total other payables and accruals

Group
2011
RMB’000

Company
2011
RMB’000

2,972
1,772
2,230
30
7,004

2,064
2,064

15 SHARE CAPITAL
Group and Company
2011
2011
Number of
ordinary shares
RMB’000

Issued and paid up:
At date of incorporation
Issue of ordinary shares
New shares issuance expense
At December 31, 2011
*

1
285,575,999
285,576,000

*
107,689
(6,452)
101,237

Denotes amount less than RMB1,000.

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends as and when declared
by the Company.
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16 RESERVES
Statutory reserve
The subsidiaries follow the accounting principles and relevant financial regulations of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC
GAAP”) applicable to Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprises in the preparation of the accounting records and statutory
financial statements.
Appropriation to the statutory reserve by the Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise is determined at 10% of the profit arrived
all in accordance with PRC GAAP for each year.
The profit arrived at must be set-off against any accumulated losses sustained by the subsidiaries and associates in prior years,
before allocation is made to the statutory reserve. Appropriation to the subsidiary reserve must be made before distribution of
dividends to shareholders. The appropriation is required until the statutory reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital. This
statutory reserve is not distributable in the form of cash dividends.
Translation reserve
The translation reserve account comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements
of foreign operations and translation of the financial statements for presenting in RMB.

17 REVENUE
Group
November 11, 2010
(date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011
RMB’000

Service fee income
Commission income
Management service fee
Total revenue

32,241
45,013
22,326
99,580

18 OTHER OPERATING INCOME
Group
November 11, 2010
(date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011
RMB’000

Interest income

1,082

19 INCOME TAX
Group
November 11, 2010
(date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011
RMB’000

Income tax expense

21,629

Singapore income tax is calculated at 17% of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions as explained below.
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19 INCOME TAX (Cont’d)
On March 16, 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“New Law”) by Order No.63 of the
President of the PRC, with an effective date of January 1, 2008. On December 28, 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued
Implementation Regulations of the New Law. Due to the New Law and Implementation Regulations, the PRC subsidiaries will be
subject to 25% Enterprise Income Tax, commencing January 1, 2008 except that certain subsidiaries which originally enjoy the
preferential tax rates shall gradually transit to the tax rate of 25% within 5 years after the enforcement of the new tax law.
Taxation arising in the PRC subsidiary is therefore calculated at the prevailing rate of 25%.
The income tax expense varied from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying the above income tax rate to
profit before tax as a result of the following differences:
Group
November 11, 2010
(date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011
RMB’000

Profit before income tax

64,789

Income tax expense at PRC statutory rate of 25%
Non-deductible items
Total

16,197
5,432
21,629

20 PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD
Profit for the period has been arrived at after charging:
Group
November 11, 2010
(date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011
RMB’000

Directors’ remuneration:
Of the company
Of the subsidiaries

966
1,490

Employees benefit expense (including directors’ remuneration)

7,689

Audit fees:
Paid to auditors of the company
Paid to other auditors

616
668

Depreciation of plant and equipment

287

Listing expenses
Less: Charged directly to equity (Note 15)
Amount charged to profit or loss

24,126
(6,452)
17,674

21 EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company of
RMB43,160,000 and weighted average number of 118,710,000 ordinary shares.
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22 SEGMENT INFORMATION
For the purpose of the resource allocation and assessment of segment performance, the Group’s chief operating decision makers
have focused on the business operating units which in turn, are segregated based on their services. This forms the basis of
identifying the segments of the Group under FRS 108 – Operating Segments.
Operating segments are aggregated into a single operating segment if they have similar economic characteristics.
The Group’s reportable operating segments under FRS 108 are as follows:
(a)

Service fee income – provision of shipbuilding consultancy services.

(b)

Commission income – provision of marketing services to shipyards in securing shipbuilding contracts.

(c)

Management service fee – services rendered in respect to marketing and consulting activities.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 2.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of share of profits of joint venture, finance income,
finance costs, and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the chief operating decision
maker monitors the tangible, intangible and financial assets attributable to each segment.
The Group’s operations are located in the People’s Republic of China, hence no analysis by geographical area of operation is
provided.
Segment revenues and results
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is presented as below:
Group

Service fee
income
RMB’000

Commission
income
RMB’000

Management
service fee
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

32,241

45,013

22,326

99,580

27,306

38,122

18,908

84,336
1,082
(20,617)
(12)

November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011
REVENUE
Related companies
RESULT
Segment result
Unallocated other operating income
Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the period

58

AVIC International Investments Limited Annual Report 2011

64,789
(21,629)
43,160

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(cont’d)

December 31, 2011

22 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Segment assets and liabilities and other segment information

Group

Service fee
income
RMB’000

Commission
income
RMB’000

Management
service fee
RMB’000

9,734

890

441

Total
RMB’000

2011
Segment assets
Unallocated assets
Total assets

11,065
171,191
182,256

Liabilities are not allocated as they are not monitored by the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance.
Information about major customers
The Group’s revenue generated from the Group’s largest customers by each segment are detailed below:
November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011
Service fee
Commission
Management
income
income
service fee
RMB’000
RMB’000
RMB’000

Customer 1
Customer 2
Total

23,195
9,046
32,241

45,013
45,013

22,326
22,326

23 OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
Group
2011
RMB’000

Minimum lease payments under operating lease recognised as an expense in the year

2,228

At the end of the financial period, the Group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases, which fall
due as follows:
Group
2011
RMB’000

Within one year
In the second to fifth years inclusive

5,635
6,563
12,198

24 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Subsequent to the year end, Kaixin Industrial, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, increased its issued and fully paid
up share capital from SGD1 (RMB5) to SGD12,570,001 (RMB63,473,000) by way of the issuance of 12,570,000 new ordinary
shares of SGD1 each for a total consideration of SGD12,570,000 (RMB63,473,000).

AVIC International Investments Limited Annual Report 2011

59

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(cont’d)

December 31, 2011

24 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Cont’d)
Further, Kaixin Beijing, a wholly owned subsidiary of Kaixin Industrial, increased its issued and fully paid up share capital from
USD650,000 (RMB4,186,000) to USD10,000,000 (RMB63,157,000) by way of the issuance of 9,350,000 new shares of USD1
each for a total consideration of USD9,350,000 (RMB58,971,000).

25 COMPARATIVE FIGURES
The Company was incorporated on November 11, 2010. This being the first financial period of the Group and the Company,
hence there are no comparative figures.
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THE ACCOMPANYING SUPPLEMENTARY
FINANCIAL INFORMATION DO NOT FORM PART
OF THE AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Financial period from November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2011

Note

November 11,
2010 (date of
incorporation)
to December 31,
2011
RMB’000

Unaudited
Pro forma
January 1, 2010
to December 31,
2010
RMB’000

Revenue

1

99,580

76,495

Other operating income

2

1,082

8,718

Employee benefits expense

(7,689)

(4,262)

Travelling and entertainment expenses

(4,085)

(2,553)

Office rental and office expenses

(2,943)

(1,830)

(17,674)

-

(3,470)

(1,634)

(12)

-

64,789

74,934

Listing expenses
Other operating expenses
Finance costs
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

3

(21,629)

(18,788)

Profit for the period, attributable to owners of the company

4

43,160

56,146

(2,070)

-

41,090

56,146

36.36

24.20

Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences arising on translation
Total comprehensive income for the period
Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (cont’d)
Financial period from November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2011

1

REVENUE
November 11,
2010 (date of
incorporation)
to December 31,
2011
RMB’000

Service fee income
Commission income
Management service fee
Less sales taxes and surcharges
Total revenue

2

Unaudited
Pro forma
January 1, 2010
to December 31,
2010
RMB’000

33,155
47,633
23,625
104,413
(4,833)
99,580

72,560
8,400
80,960
(4,465)
76,495

OTHER OPERATING INCOME
November 11,
2010 (date of
incorporation)
to December 31,
2011
RMB’000

Interest income

3

Group

Group

Unaudited
Pro forma
January 1, 2010
to December 31,
2010
RMB’000

1,082

8,718

INCOME TAX
November 11,
2010 (date of
incorporation)
to December 31,
2011
RMB’000

Income tax expense

21,629

Group

Unaudited
Pro forma
January 1, 2010
to December 31,
2010
RMB’000

18,788

Singapore income tax is calculated at 17% (2010: 17%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year. Taxation for other
jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions as explained below.
On March 16, 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“New Law”) by Order No.63 of the
President of the PRC, with an effective date of January 1, 2008. On December 28, 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued
Implementation Regulations of the New Law. Due to the New Law and Implementation Regulations, the PRC subsidiaries will be
subject to 25% Enterprise Income Tax, commencing January 1, 2008 except that certain subsidiaries which originally enjoy the
preferential tax rates shall gradually transit to the tax rate of 25% within 5 years after the enforcement of the new tax law.
Taxation arising in the PRC is calculated at the prevailing rate of 25% (2010: 25%).
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (cont’d)
Financial period from November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2011

3

INCOME TAX (Cont’d)
The income tax expense varied from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying the above income tax rate to
profit before tax as a result of the following differences:
November 11,
2010 (date of
incorporation)
to December 31,
2011
RMB’000

4

Group

Unaudited
Pro forma
January 1, 2010
to December 31,
2010
RMB’000

Profit before income tax

64,789

74,934

Income tax expense at PRC statutory rate of 25%
Non-deductible items

16,197
5,432

18,734
54

Total

21,629

18,788

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD
Profit for the period has been arrived at after charging:
November 11,
2010 (date of
incorporation)
to December 31,
2011
RMB’000

Directors’ remuneration:
Of the company
Of the subsidiaries
Employees benefit expense (including directors’ remuneration)
Audit fees:
Paid to auditors of the company
Paid to other auditors
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Listing expenses
Less: Charged directly to equity
Amount charged to profit or loss

5

Group

Unaudited
Pro forma
January 1, 2010
to December 31,
2010
RMB’000

966
1,490
7,689

476
965

616
668
287

-

24,126
(6,452)
17,674

-

EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is based on the profit attributable to owners of the Company of
RMB43,160,000 (2010: RMB56,146,000) and weighted average number of 118,710,000 (2010: 232,000,000) ordinary shares.
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Financial period from November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2011

6

SEGMENT INFORMATION
For the purpose of the resource allocation and assessment of segment performance, the Group’s chief operating decision makers
have focused on the business operating units which in turn, are segregated based on their services. This forms the basis of
identifying the segments of the Group under FRS 108 – Operating Segments.
Operating segments are aggregated into a single operating segment if they have similar economic characteristics.
The Group’s reportable operating segments under FRS 108 are as follows:
(a) Service fee income – provision of shipbuilding consultancy services.
(b) Commission income – provision of marketing services to shipyards in securing shipbuilding contracts.
(c) Management service fee – services rendered in respect to marketing and consulting activities.
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment profit represents
the profit earned by each segment without allocation of share of profits of joint venture, finance income, finance costs, and
income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance.
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the chief operating decision
maker monitors the tangible, intangible and financial assets attributable to each segment.
Segment revenues and results
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments is presented as below:
Group

Service fee
income
RMB’000

Commission
income
RMB’000

Management
service fee
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

32,241

45,013

22,326

99,580

27,306

38,122

18,908

84,336
1,082
(20,617)
(12)

November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011
REVENUE
Related companies
RESULT
Segment result
Unallocated other operating income
Unallocated corporate expenses
Finance costs
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the period

64,789
(21,629)
43,160
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6

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)
Group

Service fee
income
RMB’000

Management
service fee
RMB’000

Total
RMB’000

50,980
17,577
68,557

7,938
7,938

50,980
25,515
76,495

61,241

6,805

68,046
8,718
(1,830)

Unaudited Pro forma January 1, 2010 to December 31, 2010
REVENUE
External
Related companies

RESULT
Segment result
Unallocated other operating income
Unallocated corporate expenses
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the period

74,934
(18,788)
56,146

Information about major customers
The revenue generated from the Group’s largest customers by each segment are detailed follows:
Unaudited Pro forma January 1,
November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation)
to December 31, 2011
2010 to December 31, 2010
Service fee
Commission
Management
Service fee
Management
income
income
service fee
income
service fee
RMB’000
RMB’000
RMB’000
RMB’000
RMB’000

Customer 1
Customer 2
Customer 3
Customer 4
Total
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23,195
9,046
32,241

45,013
45,013

22,326
22,326

35,038
17,577
52,615

7,938
7,938

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (cont’d)
Financial period from November 11, 2010 (date of incorporation) to December 31, 2011

7

COMPARATIVE FIGURES
The comparative figures for statements of comprehensive income is the unaudited pro forma statements of comprehensive
income of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2010, which represents the income and expenses of the Shipbuilding
Management Division of AVIC International Beijing Co., Ltd (“AVIC International Beijing”), an intermediate holding company,
and were not audited or reviewed.
The Group did not record any business activities from the Company’s date of incorporation, November 11, 2010 to December
31, 2011.
The unaudited pro forma statements of financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2010, and the unaudited pro forma
statements of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2010 were not prepared as the Shipbuilding Management Division in
AVIC International Beijing did not maintain a divisional bank account or have divisional assets or liabilities.
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
As at 19 March 2012

Class of Shares
No. of Shares (excluding treasury shares)
Voting Rights

: Ordinary shares
: 285,576,000
: One vote per share

As at 19 March 2012, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
Size of Shareholdings

No. of
Shareholders

%

No. of Shares

%

3,910
307
59
7
4,283

91.29
7.17
1.38
0.16
100.00

753,305
705,649
6,392,249
277,724,797
285,576,000

0.26
0.25
2.24
97.25
100.00

No. of Shares

%

211,071,840
21,854,427
19,604,201
8,054,539
7,090,073
5,146,902
4,902,815
922,924
777,240
776,164
500,000
428,289
388,125
329,698
160,000
160,000
120,000
116,000
104,055
100,070
282,607,362

73.91
7.65
6.86
2.82
2.48
1.80
1.72
0.32
0.27
0.27
0.18
0.15
0.14
0.12
0.06
0.06
0.04
0.04
0.04
0.03
98.96

Director Interest

%

210,947,369

73.87

1 – 999
1,000 – 10,000
10,001 – 1,000,000
1,000,001 and above
TOTAL:

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
No. Name

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.

UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD
DBS VICKERS SECURITIES (S) PTE LTD
DMG & PARTNERS SECURITIES PTE LTD
CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD
HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD
MERRILL LYNCH (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD
RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD
DB NOMINEES (S) PTE LTD
SINO-ENVIRONMENT TECHNOLOGY GROUP LTD (UNDER JUDICIAL MANAGEMENT)
DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD
PHUA GIM CHUAN
OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD
PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD
MORGAN STANLEY ASIA (SINGAPORE) SECURITIES PTE LTD
ANG TECK CHYE
LIM JEN JONG
KOH KOK HEUNG
LIM TCHEN NAN
SUNG CHIN WAH
PEH SEE HAI
TOTAL:

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 19 MARCH 2012
(As recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders)
Name

AVIC INTERNATIONAL KAIRONG LIMITED

PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information provided, to the best knowledge of the Directors and the substantial shareholder of the Company,
approximately 26.13% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company was held in the hands of the public as at 19 March 2012.
Accordingly, the Company has compiled with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
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NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of AVIC International Investments Limited (the “Company”) will be
held at Suntec Singapore International Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Meeting Room 203, Level 2,
Singapore 039593 on Thursday, 26 April 2012 at 2pm for the following purposes:

As Ordinary Business
1.

To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the period from the date of incorporation,
11 November 2010 to 31 December 2011 (“FP2011”), together with the Reports of the Directors and
Auditors thereon.

(Resolution 1)

2.

To approve Directors’ Fees of S$170,000 for FP2011.

(Resolution 2)

3.

To re-elect Mr Zhang Wanping, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of
Association. [Explanatory Note (i)]

(Resolution 3)

4.

To re-elect Mr Li Jin, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association.
[Explanatory Note (ii)]

(Resolution 4)

5.

To re-elect Mr Cheng Xuhui, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of
Association. [Explanatory Note (iii)]

(Resolution 5)

6.

To re-elect Mr Wu Weidong, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of
Association. [Explanatory Note (iv)]

(Resolution 6)

7.

To re-elect Mr Li Wei, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association.
[Explanatory Note (v)]

(Resolution 7)

8.

To re-elect Mr Teng Cheong Kwee, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of
Association. [Explanatory Note (vi)]

(Resolution 8)

9.

To re-elect Mr Chong Teck Sin, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of
Association. [Explanatory Note (vii)]

(Resolution 9)

10. To re-elect Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of
Association. [Explanatory Note (viii)]

(Resolution 10)

11. To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors of
the Company to fix their remuneration.

(Resolution 11)

As Special Business:
To consider and if deemed fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions, with or without modifications:
12. Share Issue Mandate
THAT pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors
of the Company to allot and issue whether by way of bonus or otherwise, (i) shares; (ii) convertible securities;
(iii) additional convertible securities (where an adjustment, to the number of convertible securities to which a
holder is originally entitled to, is necessary as a result of any rights, bonus or other capitalisation issues by the
Company), notwithstanding that such authority may have ceased to be in force at the time such additional
convertible securities are issued, provided that the adjustment does not give the holder of the convertible
securities a benefit that a shareholder does not receive; and/or (iv) shares arising from the conversion of
securities in (ii) and additional convertible securities in (iii) above, notwithstanding that such authority may
have ceased to be in force at the time the shares are to be issued, and any such issue may be made at any
time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the Directors of the
Company may in their absolute discretion deem fit,
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NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Cont’d)

PROVIDED THAT:
(i)

the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities to be issued pursuant to this Resolution
shall not exceed 50% of the total number of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares, if any) of the
Company, of which the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities issued other than on a
pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed 20% of the total number of the
issued shares (excluding treasury shares, if any) of the Company;

(ii)

subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST, for the purpose of this
Resolution, the percentage of the issued share capital shall be based on the Company’s total number
of the issued shares (excluding treasury shares, if any) at the time this Resolution is passed, after
adjusting for:
(a)

new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(b) new shares arising from exercise of share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or
subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution, provided the options or awards were
granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST; and
(c)

any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares;

(iii) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the provisions of
the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived
by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for the time being of the Company; and
(iv) unless revoked or varied by the Company in a general meeting, such authority shall continue in force
until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the
next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.
[Explanatory Note (ix)]
13. To transact any other ordinary business that may properly be transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

By Order of the Board

Yap Lian Seng
Company Secretary
Singapore, 11 April 2012
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(Resolution 12)

NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Cont’d)

Explanatory Notes:
(i)

Resolution 3: Pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Zhang Wanping will retire at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that meeting. If re-elected, he will remain as the Executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

(ii) Resolution 4: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Li Jin will retire at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that meeting. If re-elected, he will remain as the Non-Executive Deputy
Chairman of the Company.
(iii) Resolution 5: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Cheng Xuhui will retire at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that meeting. If re-elected, he will remain as the Executive
Director of the Company.
(iv) Resolution 6: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Wu Weidong will retire at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that meeting. If re-elected, he will remain as the Executive
Director of the Company.
(v) Resolution 7: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Li Wei will retire at the forthcoming Annual General
Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that meeting. If re-elected, he will remain as the Executive Director of the
Company.
(vi) Resolution 8: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Teng Cheong Kwee will retire at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that meeting. If re-elected, he will remain as Chairman of
the Nominating Committee and also remain as a member of the Audit Committee and of the Remuneration Committee. If re-elected,
he will remain as the Lead Independent Director of the Company.
(vii) Resolution 9: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Chong Teck Sin will retire at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer himself for re-election at that meeting. If re-elected, he will remain as Chairman of the
Audit Committee and also remain as a member of the Remuneration Committee and of the Nominating Committee. If re-elected, he
will remain as the Independent Director of the Company.
(viii) Resolution 10: Pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan will retire at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting and shall be eligible to offer herself for re-election at that meeting. If re-elected, she will remain as Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee and also remain as a member of the Audit Committee and of the Nominating Committee. If re-elected,
she will remain as the Independent Director of the Company.
(ix) Resolution 12: If passed, this Resolution will empower the Directors of the Company, effective until the conclusion of the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company, or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held
or such authority is varied or revoked by the Company in a general meeting, whichever is the earlier, to issue shares, make or grant
offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) convertible into shares and to issue shares pursuant to such Instruments,
up to a number not exceeding in total 50% of the issued share capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any), of which up
to 20% may be issued other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders.
For determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the total number of issued shares will be calculated based on the
total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company (excluding treasury shares, if any) at the time this Resolution is passed,
after adjusting for:
(a)

new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(b)

new shares arising from the exercise of share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting at the time of the
passing of this Resolution, provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing
Manual of the SGX-ST; and

(c)

any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares.
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NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Cont’d)
Notes:
1. A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote on his
behalf and where a member appoints more than one proxy, the proportion of the shareholding concerned to be represented by each
proxy shall be specified in the Member Proxy Form. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. The instrument appointing a proxy
must be deposited at the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 50 Raffles
Place, #32-01, Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623 not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for the holding of the
Annual General Meeting.
2. If a member is unable to attend the Annual General Meeting and wishes to appoint a proxy to attend and vote at the Annual General
Meeting in his stead, then he should complete and sign the relevant Member Proxy Form and deposit the duly completed Member
Proxy Form at the office of the Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 50 Raffles Place
#32-01, Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623 not later than forty-eight (48) hours before the time set for the holding of the
Annual General Meeting.
3. A Depositor whose name appears in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter
50) as at a time not earlier than forty-eight (48) hours prior to the time of the Annual General Meeting who/which is (i) an individual but
is unable to attend the Annual General Meeting personally and wishes to appoint a nominee to attend and vote; or (ii) a corporation,
must complete, sign and return the Depositor Proxy Form and deposit the duly completed Depositor Proxy Form at the office of the
Company’s Share Registrar, Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 50 Raffles Place #32-01, Singapore Land Tower,
Singapore 048623, at least forty-eight (48) hours before the time of the Annual General Meeting.
4. If a member who has Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in his name in the Register of
Members of the Company is unable to attend the Annual General Meeting and wishes to appoint a proxy, he should use the Depositor
Proxy Form and the Member Proxy Form for, respectively, the Shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and the Shares
registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company.
5. A Depositor who is an individual and whose name is shown in the Depository Register as at a time not earlier than forty-eight (48) hours prior to
the time of the Annual General Meeting and who wishes to attend the Annual General Meeting in person need not take any further action
and can attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting as CDP’s proxy without the lodgment of any proxy.
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AVIC INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS LIMITED

1.

For investors who have used their CPF monies to
buy shares in the capital of AVIC INTERNATIONAL
INVESTMENTS LIMITED, this report is forwarded to them
at the request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is
sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2.

This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF investors and
shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or
purported to be used by them.

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Registration No. 201024137N)

PROXY FORM
I/We*,

(name)
(address)

of
being a member/members of AVIC INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENTS LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint:
Name

NRIC/Passport No.

Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares
%

NRIC/Passport No.

Proportion of Shareholdings
No. of Shares
%

Address

and/or (delete as appropriate)
Name

Address

or failing *him/her, the Chairman of the Annual General Meeting, as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and to vote for *me/us on *my/our
behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Suntec Singapore International
Convention & Exhibition Centre, 1 Raffles Boulevard, Suntec City, Meeting Room 203, Level 2, Singapore 039593 on Thursday, 26
April 2012 at 2pm and at any adjournment thereof.
(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against the resolutions as set out
in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as *he/they may
think fit, as *he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting)
ORDINARY BUSINESS
Resolution 1 To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements for the period from the date of incorporation, 11
November 2010 to 31 December 2011, together with the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.
Resolution 2 To approve the Directors’ Fees of S$170,000 for the period from the Company’s date of
incorporation, 11 November 2010 to 31 December 2011.
Resolution 3 To re-elect Mr Zhang Wanping, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 91 of the Company’s Articles
of Association.
Resolution 4 To re-elect Mr Li Jin, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of
Association.
Resolution 5 To re-elect Mr Cheng Xuhui, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of
Association.
Resolution 6 To re-elect Mr Wu Weidong, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles
of Association.
Resolution 7 To re-elect Mr Li Wei, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles of
Association.
Resolution 8 To re-elect Mr Teng Cheong Kwee, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.
Resolution 9 To re-elect Mr Chong Teck Sin, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s Articles
of Association.
Resolution 10 To re-elect Ms Alice Lai Kuen Kan, a Director who retires pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s
Articles of Association.
Resolution 11 To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors
of the Company to fix their remuneration.
SPECIAL BUSINESS

For

Against

Resolution 12 To approve and adopt the Share Issue Mandate.

Date this

day of

2012

Signature(s) of members(s) or Common Seal
*

Delete where applicable

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ THE NOTES OVERLEAF

Total Number of Shares held in:

CDP Register
Register of Members

NOTES:
1. Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as defined
in Section 130A of the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50), you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares registered
in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares entered against
your name in the Depository Register and shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate
number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.
2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more
than two proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
3. Where a member appoints more than one proxy, the member must specify the proportion of shareholdings (expressed as a percentage
of the whole) to be represented by each proxy. If no proportion of shareholdings is specified, the proxy whose name appears first shall be
deemed to carry 100% of the shareholdings of his appointor and the proxy whose name appears after shall be deemed to be appointed
in the alternate.
4. If the instrument appointing a proxy is returned without any indication as to how the proxy shall vote, the proxy shall vote or abstained
as he thinks fit.
5. If the instrument appointing a proxy is returned without the name of the proxy indicated, the instrument appointing a proxy shall be
invalid.
6. If the appointor is an individual, the instrument appointing a proxy shall be signed by the appointor or his attorney.
7. If the appointor is a corporation, the instrument appointing a proxy shall be either given under its common seal or signed on its behalf by
an attorney or a duly authorised officer of the corporation. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors
or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the
Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50.
8. The signature on the instrument appointing a proxy need not be witnessed. Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf
of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the
Company) be lodged with the instrument appointing a proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.
9. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the office of the Share Registrar of the Company, Boardroom Corporate &
Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. at 50 Raffles Place #32-01, Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623, not less than forty-eight (48) hours
before the time appointed for holding of the Annual General Meeting or adjourned meeting or (in the case of a poll taken otherwise than
at or on the same day as the meeting or adjourned meeting) for the taking of the poll at which it is to be used.
General:
The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or illegible
or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument
appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument
appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the
Depository Register as at forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as certified by The
Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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